WESTERN ALLIANCE BANCORPORATION Form 10-Q November 14, 2006

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549 **FORM 10-Q**

or	
o Transition Report Pursuant to Section 13 or 1 For the Transition period from to Commission File Num WESTERN ALLIANCE BA	aber: 001-32550
(Exact Name of Registrant as S	
Nevada	88-0365922
(State or Other Jurisdiction of Incorporation or Organization)	(I.R.S. Employer I.D. Number)
2700 W. Sahara Avenue, Las Vegas, NV	89102
(Address of Principal Executive Offices) (702) 248-4	(Zip Code)
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large acceler. See definition of accelerated filer and large accelerated file Large accelerated filer o Accelerated Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell comparate.	reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the character of the past 90 days. No o rated filer, an accelerated filer or a non-accelerated filer in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. filer o Non-accelerated filer by (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). No by s classes of common stock, as of the latest practicable

Index	Page
Part I. Financial Information	
<u>Item 1 Financial Statements</u>	
Consolidated Balance Sheets at September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005	3
Consolidated Statements of Income for the Three and Nine Months Ended September 30, 2006 and	
<u>2005</u>	4
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders Equity for the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2006	5
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows Three Months and Nine Months Ended September 30, 2006	
<u>and 2005</u>	6
Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements	7
Item 2 Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation	26
Item 3 Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk	48
<u>Item 4 Controls and Procedures</u>	48
Part II. Other Information	
<u>Item 1 Legal Proceedings</u>	49
<u>Item 1A Risk Factors</u>	49
<u>Item 2</u> <u>Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds</u>	49
Item 3 Defaults Upon Senior Securities	49
<u>Item 4 Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders</u>	49
<u>Item 5 Other Information</u>	49
<u>Item 6 Exhibits</u>	50
Signatures	51
Exhibit Index	52
EX-31.1	
EX-31.2 EX-32	
2	
-	

Table of Contents

Part I. Financial Information ITEM I. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Western Alliance Bancorporation and Subsidiaries Consolidated Balance Sheets September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005

(\$ in thousands, except per share amounts) Assets	September 30, 2006 (Unaudited)	December 31, 2005
Cash and due from banks	\$ 103,281	\$ 111,150
Federal funds sold	103,789	63,186
Todorul Tulius soru	103,707	03,100
Cash and cash equivalents	207,070	174,336
Securities held to maturity (approximate fair value \$103,257 and \$112,601,		
respectively)	105,993	115,171
Securities available for sale	448,140	633,362
Loans, net of allowance for loan losses of \$33,110 and \$21,192, respectively	2,886,533	1,772,145
Premises and equipment, net	93,763	58,430
Bank owned life insurance	56,257	51,834
Investment in Federal Home Loan Bank stock, at cost	17,282	14,456
Accrued interest receivable	15,783	10,545
Deferred tax assets, net	10,696	10,807
Goodwill	132,381	3,946
Other intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization of \$1,005 and \$405,		
respectively	14,342	1,218
Other assets	14,553	11,021
Total assets	\$4,002,793	\$2,857,271
Liabilities and Stockholders Equity Liabilities		
Non-interest bearing demand deposits Interest bearing deposits:	\$1,058,681	\$ 980,009
Demand	249,274	122,262
Savings and money market	1,403,591	949,582
Time, \$100 and over	460,426	316,205
Other time	78,307	25,754
	3,250,279	2,393,812
Customer repurchase agreements	149,184	78,170
Federal Home Loan Bank advances and other borrowings		
One year or less	52,000	7,000
Over one year	58,038	73,512
Junior subordinated debt	61,857	30,928
Subordinated debt	20,000	
Accrued interest payable and other liabilities	18,365	29,626

Total liabilities	3,609,723	2,613,048
Commitments and Contingencies (Notes 7 and 10)		
Stockholders Equity		
Preferred stock, par value \$.0001; shares authorized 20,000,000; no shares		
issued and outstanding 2006 and 2005		
Common stock, par value \$.0001; shares authorized 100,000,000; shares		
issued and outstanding 2006: 26,977,063; 2005: 22,810,491	3	2
Additional paid-in capital	285,446	167,632
Retained earnings	117,162	86,281
Accumulated other comprehensive loss net unrealized loss on available for		
sale securities	(9,541)	(9,692)
Total stockholders equity	393,070	244,223
Total liabilities and stockholders equity	\$4,002,793	\$2,857,271
See Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements.		

Table of Contents

Western Alliance Bancorporation and Subsidiaries Consolidated Statements of Income Three and Nine Months Ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 (Unaudited)

	Septen	onths Ended mber 30,	Septem	ths Ended lber 30,
(\$ in thousands, except per share amounts)	2006	2005	2006	2005
Interest income on:				
Loans, including fees	\$57,508	\$27,343	\$144,266	\$71,266
Securities taxable	6,149	7,269	19,106	22,053
Securities nontaxable	131	85	708	256
Dividends taxable	261	135	645	441
Federal funds sold and other	295	868	1,198	1,919
Total interest income	64,344	35,700	165,923	95,935
Interest expense on:				
Deposits	18,987	6,767	44,329	17,124
Short-term borrowings	3,777	357	7,951	1,305
Long-term borrowings	710	699	2,131	2,259
Junior subordinated debt	1,250	546	2,937	1,520
Subordinated debt	344		362	
Total interest expense	25,068	8,369	57,710	22,208
Net interest income	39,276	27,331	108,213	73,727
Provision for loan losses	953	1,283	3,950	4,217
Net interest income after provision for loan losses	38,323	26,048	104,263	69,510
Other income:				
Trust and investment advisory services	1,897	1,448	5,335	4,108
Service charges	918	662	2,453	1,858
Income from bank owned life insurance	641	463	1,863	1,045
Investment securities gains (losses), net				69
Other	1,175	660	2,958	1,655
	4,631	3,233	12,609	8,735
Other expense:				
Salaries and employee benefits	14,243	9,541	39,353	27,049
Occupancy	3,556	2,619	9,146	7,314
Customer service	1,817	1,257	5,029	2,930
Advertising and other business development	970	702	2,930	2,023
Legal, professional and director fees	715	527	2,137	1,523
Audits and exams	682	367	1,608	1,128
Supplies	598	304	1,255	804

Edgar Filing: WESTERN ALLIANCE BANCORPORATION - Form 10-Q

Organizational costs Correspondent and wire transfer costs Data processing Telephone Insurance Travel and automobile	426 416 353 297 265 251	417 350 195 223 232	854 1,254 1,220 754 769 590	1,220 715 558 540 487
Other	468	540	2,248	1,523
	25,057	17,274	69,147	47,814
Income before income taxes	17,897	12,007	47,725	30,431
Income tax expense	6,330	4,258	16,844	10,808
Net income	\$11,567	\$ 7,749	\$ 30,881	\$19,623
Comprehensive income	\$15,088	\$ 6,071	\$ 31,032	\$17,577
Earnings per share: Basic	\$ 0.44	\$ 0.34	\$ 1.22	\$ 0.99
Diluted	\$ 0.40	\$ 0.31	\$ 1.11	\$ 0.90
See Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Stateme	nts.			

Table of Contents

Western Alliance Bancorporation and Subsidiaries Consolidated Statement of Stockholders Equity Nine Months Ended September 30, 2006 (Unaudited)

(\$ in thousands, except per share amounts)

			Preferred			A	Additional				eumulated Other	
	Com	prehens	sive Stock Shares	Common S Shares	Stock		Paid-in	R	etained C	Com	prehensiv	e
Description]	Income	Issuedmount	Issued	Amou	ınt	Capital	Е	arnings	((Loss)	Total
Balance, December 31, 2005			\$	22,810,491	\$ 2	2 \$	\$ 167,632	\$	86,281	\$	(9,692)	\$ 244,223
Issuance of common stock in connection with acquisition, net of offering costs of \$264 Stock options				3,390,306	1		101,004					101,005
converted at acquisition							3,406					3,406
Stock options exercised				223,386			1,653					1,653
Stock warrants exercised Restricted stock				54,621			416					416
granted, net of forfeitures Stock based				220,443			1,226					1,226
compensation expense				14,427			1,007					1,007
Private placement offering Comprehensive				263,389			9,102					9,102
income: Net income Other comprehensive income Unrealized holding gains on securities available for sale arising during the		30,88	1						30,881			30,881
period, net of taxes of \$(81))Ţ	15	1								151	151
	\$	31,03	2									

Balance,

September 30, 2006 \$ 26,977,063 \$ 3 \$ 285,446 \$ 117,162 \$ (9,541) \$ 393,070

See Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements.

5

Table of Contents

Western Alliance Bancorporation and Subsidiaries Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows Nine Months Ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 (Unaudited)

(\$ in thousands)

	2006	2005
Cash Flows from Operating Activities:		
Net income	\$ 30,881	\$ 19,623
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating	. ,	. ,
activities:		
Depreciation and amortization	4,668	2,809
Net amortization of securities premiums	858	1,196
Stock dividends received, FHLB stock	(639)	(440)
Provision for loan losses	3,950	4,217
(Gain) loss on sales of securities available for sale		(69)
Deferred taxes	(930)	(25)
Compensation cost on restricted stock	1,226	60
Stock based compensation expense	1,007	
Excess tax benefits from share-based payment arrangements	(89)	(0.5.0)
Decrease in accrued interest receivable	(2,130)	(830)
Increase in bank-owned life insurance	(1,862)	(1,045)
Increase in other assets	(544)	(4,260)
Increase (decrease) in accrued interest payable and other liabilities	(11,850)	84
Other, net	8	(30)
Net cash provided by operating activities	24,554	21,290
Cash Flows from Investing Activities:		
Purchases of securities held to maturity	(2,927)	(8,233)
Proceeds from maturities of securities held to maturity	14,541	20,560
Purchases of securities available for sale	(20,535)	(85,747)
Proceeds from maturities of securities available for sale	236,377	125,697
Proceeds from the sale of securities available for sale		18,728
Net cash received in settlement of acquisitions	3,254	
Proceeds from redemption of Federal Home Loan Bank stock	1,423	1,531
Net increase in loans made to customers	(518,329)	(429,206)
Purchase of premises and equipment	(27,392)	(10,285)
Proceeds from sale of premises and equipment		62
Purchase of bank owned life insurance		(24,000)
Net cash used in investing activities	(313,588)	(390,893)
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:		
Net increase in deposits	188,980	591,462
Net proceeds from (repayments on) borrowings	81,528	(129,684)
Proceeds from issuance of junior subordinated and subordinated debt	40,000	
Proceeds from stock issuance	9,102	85,063
Proceeds from exercise of stock options and stock warrants	2,069	1,982

Edgar Filing: WESTERN ALLIANCE BANCORPORATION - Form 10-Q

Excess tax benefits from share-based payment arrangements	89	
Net cash provided by financing activities	321,768	548,823
Increase in cash and cash equivalents Cash and Cash Equivalents, beginning of period	32,734 174,336	179,220 115,397
Cash and Cash Equivalents, end of period	\$ 207,070	\$ 294,617
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information		
Cash payments for interest	\$ 56,132	\$ 23,141
Cash payments for income taxes	\$ 17,265	\$ 12,640
Supplemental Disclosure of Noncash Investing and Financing Activities		
Stock issued in connection with acquisition	\$ 104,411	\$
See Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements.		
6		

Table of Contents

Western Alliance Bancorporation and Subsidiaries Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements Note 1. Nature of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Nature of business

Western Alliance Bancorporation is a bank holding company providing a full range of banking services to commercial and consumer customers through its wholly owned subsidiaries Bank of Nevada (formerly BankWest of Nevada), operating in Nevada, Alliance Bank of Arizona, operating in Arizona, Torrey Pines Bank, operating in Southern California, Miller/Russell & Associates, Inc., operating in Nevada, Arizona and Southern California, and Premier Trust, Inc., operating in Nevada and Arizona. These entities are collectively referred to herein as the Company. The accounting and reporting policies of the Company conform to accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America and general industry practices.

A summary of the significant accounting policies of the Company follows:

Use of estimates in the preparation of financial statements

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. A material estimate that is particularly susceptible to significant change in the near term relates to the determination of the allowance for loan losses. Additionally, the defalcation discussed in Note 10 required management to estimate an insurance reimbursement before the claim was completed.

Principles of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Western Alliance Bancorporation and its wholly owned subsidiaries, Bank of Nevada, Alliance Bank of Arizona, Torrey Pines Bank (collectively referred to herein as the Banks), Miller/Russell & Associates, Inc., and Premier Trust, Inc. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Interim financial information

The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements as of September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005 and for the periods ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 have been prepared in condensed format, and therefore do not include all of the information and footnotes required by generally accepted accounting principles for complete financial statements.

The information furnished in these interim statements reflects all adjustments which are, in the opinion of management, necessary for a fair statement of the results for each respective period presented. Such adjustments are of a normal recurring nature. The results of operations in the interim statements are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for any other quarter or for the full year. The interim financial information should be read in conjunction with the Company s audited financial statements.

Condensed financial information as of December 31, 2005 has been presented next to the interim consolidated balance sheet for informational purposes.

7

Western Alliance Bancorporation and Subsidiaries
Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements
Note 1. Nature of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Stock compensation plans

The Company has the 2005 Stock Incentive Plan (the Plan) which is described more fully in Note 8. Effective January 1, 2006 (the adoption date), the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 123 (revised 2005), *Share Based Payment* (SFAS 123R). Prior to adoption of SFAS 123R, the Company accounted for stock option grants using the recognition and measurement principles of APB Opinion No. 25, *Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees*, and related interpretations. Therefore, no stock option-based compensation was reflected in net income, as all options are required by the Plan to be granted with an exercise price equal to the estimated fair value of the underlying common stock on the date of grant.

Prior to the adoption of SFAS 123R, the Company applied the disclosure provisions of SFAS 123, *Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation*. SFAS 123 required the disclosure of the pro forma impact on net income and earnings per share as if the value of the options were calculated at fair value. SFAS 123 permitted private companies to calculate the fair value of stock options using the minimum value method while public companies were required to use a fair value model. Prior to the Company s initial public offering (IPO) the Company used the minimum value method to calculate the fair value of stock options. Subsequent to the Company s IPO, the Company utilizes the Black-Scholes model to calculate the fair value of stock options.

The Company has adopted SFAS 123R using the prospective method for options granted prior to the IPO and the modified prospective method for options granted subsequent to the IPO. Under the Company s transition method, SFAS 123R applies to new awards and to awards that were outstanding on the adoption date that are subsequently modified, repurchased, or cancelled. In addition, the expense recognition provision of SFAS 123R applies to options granted prior to the adoption date but subsequent to the IPO that were unvested at the adoption date.

The following table illustrates the effect on net income and earnings per share had compensation cost for all of the stock-based compensation plans been determined based on the grant date fair values of awards (the method described in FASB Statement No. 123, *Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation*):

	Three Months Ended September 30,		Nine Mont Septeml	
	2006	2005	2006	2005
Net income: As reported Deduct stock-based employee compensation	\$11,567	\$7,749	\$30,881	\$19,623
expense determined under minimum value based method for awards issued prior to the IPO Related tax benefit for nonqualified stock	(240)	(259)	(720)	(684)
options	18	19	55	42
Pro forma	\$11,345	\$7,509	\$30,216	\$18,981
Earnings per share:				
Basic as reported	\$ 0.44	\$ 0.34	\$ 1.22	\$ 0.99
Basic pro forma	0.43	0.33	1.20	0.96
Diluted as reported	0.40	0.31	1.11	0.90
Diluted pro forma	0.39 8	0.30	1.09	0.87

Table of Contents

Western Alliance Bancorporation and Subsidiaries
Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements
Note 1. Nature of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Recent accounting pronouncements

In July 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 48, *Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, an Interpretation of FASB Statement 109* (FIN 48), which clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in tax positions. This Interpretation provides that the tax effects from an uncertain tax position can be recognized in our financial statements only if the position is more likely than not of being sustained on audit, based on the technical merits of the position. The provisions of FIN 48 are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006, with the cumulative effect of the change in accounting principle recorded as an adjustment to opening retained earnings. We do not expect FIN 48 to have a material impact on our financial statements.

In September 2006, the FASB ratified the consensus of the Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) Issue No. 06-4, Accounting for Deferred Compensation and Postretirement Benefit Aspects of Endorsement Split-Dollar Life Insurance Arrangement. EITF 06-4 applies to endorsement split dollar life insurance policies that provide a benefit to an employee that extends to postretirement periods and requires an employer to recognize a liability for future benefits over the service period based on the substantive agreement with the employee. EITF 06-4 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2007, with early adoption permitted. We do not expect EITF 06-4 to have a material impact on our financial statements.

FASB Statement No. 157, *Fair Value Measurements*, defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP), and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. Upon adoption of FASB Statement No. 157, the Company will be required to expand disclosures about the use of fair value and the methods used to measure fair value. FASB Statement No. 157 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, and interim periods within those fiscal years. Early application is encouraged. We do not expect FASB Statement No. 157 to have a material impact on our financial statements.

The Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) recently issued Staff Accounting Bulletin (SAB) 108 which provides guidance on materiality. SAB 108 requires companies to use both a balance sheet (iron curtain) approach and an income statement (rollover) approach when quantifying and evaluating the materiality of a misstatement. The Bulletin also provides guidance on correcting errors under this dual approach and also provides transitional guidance for correcting errors existing in prior years. SAB 108 is effective for annual financial statements covering the first fiscal year after November 15, 2006. We do not expect SAB 108 to have a material impact on our financial statements.

In September 2006, the FASB ratified the consensus reached by the Emerging Issues Task Force in Issue No. 06-5, *Accounting for Purchases of Life Insurance Determining the Amount That Could Be Realized in Accordance with FASB Technical Bulletin No. 85-4, Accounting for Purchases of Life Insurance* (EITF 06-5). EITF 06-5 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006. The Company is currently evaluating the impact this guidance will have on our financial statements.

9

Table of Contents

Western Alliance Bancorporation and Subsidiaries Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements Note 2. Mergers and Acquisitions Activity

Effective March 31, 2006, the Company acquired 100% of the outstanding common stock of Intermountain First Bancorporation (Intermountain), headquartered in Las Vegas, Nevada. Intermountain was the parent company of Nevada First Bank. The tax-deferred merger was accomplished according to the Agreement and Plan of Merger (the Merger Agreement), dated December 30, 2005. At the date of acquisition, Nevada First Bank became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and on April 29, 2006, Nevada First Bank was merged into BankWest of Nevada. As the merger closed on March 31, 2006, Intermountain s results for the three months ended March 31, 2006 were not included with the Company s results of operations. The merger increases the Company s presence in Las Vegas, Nevada and expands the Company s market into Northern Nevada.

As provided by the Merger Agreement and based on valuation amounts determined as of the merger date, approximately 1.486 million shares of Intermountain common stock were exchanged for \$6.85 million in cash and 3.39 million shares of the Company s common stock at a calculated exchange ratio of 2.44. The exchange of shares represented approximately 13% of the Company s outstanding common stock as of the merger date.

Intermountain had 57,150 employee stock options outstanding at the acquisition date (March 31, 2006). All of the Intermountain stock options vested upon change in control. On the acquisition date, the Company replaced the Intermountain stock options with options to purchase shares of the Company s stock. In order to determine the number of options to be granted, the number of Intermountain options was multiplied by the exchange ratio of 2.44 and the exercise price was divided by the exchange ratio. All other terms (vesting, contractual life, etc.) were carried forward from the Intermountain options. As a result, the Company granted a total of 139,446 stock options with a weighted average exercise price of \$7.70 to former Intermountain employees on the acquisition date. The fair value of the stock options of \$3.4 million is included in the purchase price.

The merger was accounted for under the purchase method of accounting in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 141, *Business Combinations*. Accordingly, the purchase price was allocated to the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values at the merger date (March 31, 2006) as summarized below (in thousands, except share and per share amounts):

10

Table of Contents

Western Alliance Bancorporation and Subsidiaries Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements Note 2. Mergers and Acquisitions Activity (continued)

D.,	mal	hase	Dwi	200
PII	rc	nase	Pri	ce

Number of shares of Company stock issued for Intermountain stock	,390,306	
Price of the Company s stock on the date of Merger Agreement	\$ 29.87	
Total stock consideration		\$ 101,268
Fair value of Intermountain s stock options converted to Company stock options at		
merger date		3,406
Total common stock issued and stock options assumed		104,674
Cash consideration		6,847
Total stock and cash consideration		111,521
Acquisition costs:		
Direct costs of acquisition		1,243
Total purchase price and acquisition costs		112,764
Allocation of Purchase Price		
Intermountain s equity	\$ 31,574	
Adjustments to reflect assets acquired and liabilities assumed at fair value, net of		
deferred taxes:		
Loans	(751)	
Fixed assets	113	
Identified intangibles	5,959	
Deposits	(67)	
Fair value of net assets acquired		36,828
- -		
Estimated goodwill arising from transaction		\$ 75,936

During the three months ended September 30, 2006, the Company conducted a scheduled review of the loan portfolio acquired through the merger and identified fair value adjustments to loans of \$354,000 (net of taxes) and the allowance for loan losses totaling \$87,000 (net of taxes). These amounts are reflected as an addition to goodwill as calculated above.

Effective April 29, 2006, the Company acquired 100% of the outstanding common stock of Bank of Nevada, headquartered in Las Vegas, Nevada. The merger was accomplished according to the Agreement and Plan of Merger (the Bank of Nevada Merger Agreement), dated January 16, 2006. At the date of acquisition, Bank of Nevada was merged into BankWest of Nevada (whose name was subsequently changed to Bank of Nevada). As the merger closed on April 29, 2006, Bank of Nevada s results for the one month ended April 30, 2006 were not included with the Company s results of operations. The merger increases the Company s presence in Las Vegas, Nevada.

As provided by the Bank of Nevada Merger Agreement, approximately 844,000 shares of Bank of Nevada common stock and 119,000 stock options were exchanged for \$74.0 million in cash.

11

Table of Contents

Western Alliance Bancorporation and Subsidiaries Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements Note 2. Mergers and Acquisitions Activity (continued)

The merger was accounted for under the purchase method of accounting in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 141, *Business Combinations*. Accordingly, the purchase price was allocated to the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values at the merger date (April 29, 2006) as summarized below (in thousands, except share and per share amounts):

Purchase	Price
I ul cliasc	11100

Cash consideration	\$73,997
Acquisition costs:	
Direct costs of acquisition	902
Total purchase price and acquisition costs	74,899
Allocation of Purchase Price	
Bank of Nevada s equity	\$ 19,952
Adjustments to reflect assets acquired and liabilities assumed at fair value, net of	
deferred taxes:	
Loans	(854)
Identified intangibles	3,012
Other assets	423
Deposits	(133)
Fair value of net assets acquired	22,400
Estimated goodwill arising from transaction	\$ 52,499

During the three months ended September 30, 2006, the Company conducted a scheduled review of the loan portfolio acquired through the merger and identified fair value adjustments to loans of \$594,000 (net of taxes) and the allowance for loan losses totaling \$175,000 (net of taxes). These amounts are reflected as an addition to goodwill as calculated above.

Certain amounts, including goodwill, are subject to change when the determination of the asset and liability values is finalized within one year from the merger date. Valuations of certain assets and liabilities of Intermountain and Bank of Nevada will be performed with the assistance of independent valuation consultants. None of the resulting goodwill is expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

The following unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information presents the Company s results of operations for the years indicated had the mergers taken place as of January 1, 2005 (in thousands, except per share amounts):

12

Table of Contents

Western Alliance Bancorporation and Subsidiaries Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements Note 2. Mergers and Acquisitions Activity (continued)

	Three months ended September 30,		Nine months ended September 30,	
	2006	2005	2006	2005
Net interest income	\$39,276	\$36,487	\$118,919	\$97,966
Provision for loan losses	953	1,605	6,940	5,171
Non-interest income	4,631	3,623	12,865	10,131
Merger-related expense			4,960	
Other non-interest expense	25,057	21,579	74,842	60,730
Income before income taxes	17,897	16,926	45,042	42,196
Income taxes	6,330	5,828	15,884	14,815
Net income	\$11,567	\$11,098	\$ 29,158	\$27,381
Pro forma earnings per share				
Basic	\$ 0.44	\$ 0.42	\$ 1.11	\$ 1.18
Diluted	\$ 0.40	\$ 0.39	\$ 1.01	\$ 1.08
Pro forma weighted average shares outstanding during the period				
Basic	26,471	26,123	26,344	23,232
Diluted	29,161	28,574	28,961	25,246

Merger related expense in the nine months ended September 30, 2006 of \$5.0 million, relate to costs associated with these mergers and consist of employee-related costs of \$3.6 million, and other costs of \$1.4 million. Employee-related costs generally consist of various one time payments and accruals related to employment agreement change-in-control provisions. There were no merger related expenses in the three month period ended September 30, 2006.

13

Table of Contents

Western Alliance Bancorporation and Subsidiaries Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements Note 3. Earnings Per Share

Diluted earnings per share is based on the weighted average outstanding common shares during each period, including common stock equivalents. Basic earnings per share is based on the weighted average outstanding common shares during the period.

Basic and diluted earnings per share, based on the weighted average outstanding shares, are summarized as follows:

	Three Months Ended September 30,		Nine Months Ended September 30,	
	2006	2005	2006	2005
	(iı	n thousands, excep	ot per share amou	nts)
Basic:				
Net income applicable to common stock	\$11,567	\$ 7,749	\$30,881	\$19,623
Average common shares outstanding	26,471	22,733	25,216	19,842
Earnings per share	\$ 0.44	\$ 0.34	\$ 1.22	\$ 0.99
Diluted:		4.7.7. 0	\$20.004	10.522
Net income applicable to common stock	\$11,567	\$ 7,749	\$30,881	\$19,623
Average common shares outstanding	26,471	22,733	25,216	19,842
Stock option adjustment	1,407	1,341	1,386	1,128
Stock warrant adjustment	1,047	1,008	1,049	887
Restricted stock adjustment	236		182	
Average common equivalent shares outstanding	29,161	25,082	27,833	21,857
Earnings per share	\$ 0.40	\$ 0.31	\$ 1.11	\$ 0.90

Note 4. Loans

The components of the Company s loan portfolio as of September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005 are as follows (in thousands):

	September 30, 2006	December 31, 2005
Construction and land development	\$ 768,684	\$ 432,668
Commercial real estate	1,168,806	727,210
Residential real estate	385,501	272,861
Commercial and industrial	574,201	342,452
Consumer	26,100	20,434
Less: net deferred loan fees	(3,649)	(2,288)
	2,919,643	1,793,337

Less:

Allowance for loan losses (33,110) (21,192)

\$2,886,533 \$1,772,145

14

Table of Contents

Western Alliance Bancorporation and Subsidiaries Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements Note 4. Loans (continued)

Changes in the allowance for loan losses for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 are as follows (in thousands):

	Three Months Ended September 30,		Nine Months Ended September 30,	
	2006	2005	2006	2005
Balance, beginning	\$32,158	\$18,118	\$21,192	\$15,271
Acquisitions	403		8,768	
Provision charged to operating expense	953	1,283	3,950	4,217
Recoveries of amounts charged off	21	13	304	171
Less amounts charged off	(425)	(126)	(1,104)	(371)
Balance, ending	\$33,110	\$19,288	\$33,110	\$19,288

During the three months ended September 30, 2006, the Company identified certain adjustments to the allowance for loan losses related to the acquisitions of Intermountain First Bancorporation and Bank of Nevada. See further discussion in Note 2.

At September 30, 2006, total impaired and non-accrual loans were (in thousands) \$1,851 and \$604, respectively, and loans past due 90 days or more and still accruing were (in thousands) \$18.

Note 5. Premises and Equipment

The major classes of premises and equipment and the total accumulated depreciation and amortization as of December 31 are as follows:

	September 30, 2006	December 31, 2005
Land	\$ 26,886	\$ 20,505
Bank premises	36,645	24,214
Equipment and furniture	28,442	20,517
Leasehold improvements	5,531	2,870
Construction in progress	17,279	3,748
	114,783	71,854
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization	(21,020)	(13,424)
Net premises and equipment	\$ 93,763	\$ 58,430

Our remaining commitment related to our construction in progress at September 30, 2006 is \$5,171,000.

Note 6. Junior Subordinated and Subordinated Debt

In July 2001, BankWest Nevada Capital Trust I was formed and issued floating rate Cumulative Trust Preferred Securities, which are classified as junior subordinated debt in the accompanying balance sheet in the amount of \$15,464,000. The rate is based on the six month London Interbank Offering Rate (LIBOR) plus 3.75%. Six month LIBOR was 5.37% at September 30, 2006. The funds raised from the capital trust s issuance of these securities were all passed to the Company. The sole asset of the BankWest Nevada Capital Trust I is a note receivable from the Company. These securities require semiannual interest payments and mature in 2031. These securities may be

redeemed in years 2006 through 2011 at a premium as outlined in the Indenture Agreement.

15

Table of Contents

Western Alliance Bancorporation and Subsidiaries Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements Note 6. Junior Subordinated and Subordinated Debt (continued)

In December 2002, BankWest Nevada Capital Trust II was formed and issued floating rate Cumulative Trust Preferred Securities, which are classified as junior subordinated debt in the accompanying balance sheet in the amount of \$15,464,000. The rate is based on the three month LIBOR plus 3.35%. Three month LIBOR was 5.37% at September 30, 2006. The funds raised from the capital trust s issuance of these securities were all passed to the Company. The sole asset of the BankWest Nevada Capital Trust II is a note receivable from the Company. These securities require quarterly interest payments and mature in 2033. These securities may be redeemable at par beginning in 2008.

In January 2004, Intermountain First Statutory Trust I was formed to issue floating rate Cumulative Trust Preferred Securities, which are classified as junior subordinated debt in the accompanying balance sheet in the amount of \$10,310,000. The rate is based on three month LIBOR plus 2.80%. This debt was acquired by the Company as a result of the merger with Intermountain on March 31, 2006. The securities require quarterly interest payments and mature in 2034. These securities are redeemable at par beginning in March 2009.

In April 2006, WAL Trust No. 1 was formed to issue Cumulative Trust Preferred Securities, which are classified as junior subordinated debt in the accompanying balance sheet in the amount of \$20,619,000. The interest rate is fixed through June 2011 at 6.78%. Thereafter, the rate will be equal to the three month LIBOR plus 1.45%. The sole asset of WAL Trust No. 1 is a note receivable from the Company. The funds raised from the capital trust s issuance of these securities were all passed to the Company. These securities require quarterly interest payments and mature in 2036. These securities may be redeemable at par beginning in June 2011.

BankWest Nevada Capital Trust I, BankWest Nevada Capital Trust II, Intermountain First Statutory Trust I and WAL Trust No. 1 are collectively referred to herein as the Trusts.

In the event of certain changes or amendments to regulatory requirements or federal tax rules, the preferred securities are redeemable. The Trusts are 100% owned finance subsidiaries of the Company and the Trusts obligations under the preferred securities are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by the Company.

In June 2006, Bank of Nevada issued \$20,000,000 in floating rate unsecured subordinated debt. The rate is based on three month LIBOR plus 1.20%. The debt requires quarterly interest payments and matures in September 2016. The entire \$20,000,000 was distributed to Western Alliance Bancorporation to fund general corporate purposes.

Note 7. Commitments and Contingencies

Contingencies

In the normal course of business, the Company is involved in various legal proceedings. In the opinion of management, any liability resulting from such proceedings would not have a material adverse effect on the consolidated financial statements.

16

Table of Contents

Western Alliance Bancorporation and Subsidiaries Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements Note 7. Commitments and Contingencies (continued)

Financial instruments with off-balance sheet risk

The Company is party to financial instruments with off-balance sheet risk in the normal course of business to meet the financing needs of its customers. These financial instruments include commitments to extend credit and standby letters of credit. They involve, to varying degrees, elements of credit risk in excess of amounts recognized on the consolidated balance sheets.

The Company s exposure to credit loss in the event of nonperformance by the other parties to the financial instrument for these commitments is represented by the contractual amounts of those instruments. The Company uses the same credit policies in making commitments and conditional obligations as it does for on-balance sheet instruments. A summary of the contract amount of the Company s exposure to off-balance sheet risk is as follows:

	September 30,	December 31,
	2006	2005
	(in thou	ısands)
Commitments to extend credit, including unsecured loan commitments of		
\$192,658 in 2006 and \$111,522 in 2005	\$1,161,348	\$750,349
Credit card guarantees	6,289	7,616
Standby letters of credit, including unsecured letters of credit of \$15,775 in		
2006 and \$4,550 in 2005	46,117	28,720
	\$1,213,754	\$786,685

Commitments to extend credit are agreements to lend to a customer as long as there is no violation of any condition established in the contract. Commitments generally have fixed expiration dates or other termination clauses and may require payment of a fee. Since many of the commitments are expected to expire without being drawn upon, the total commitment amounts do not necessarily represent future cash requirements. The Company evaluates each customer s creditworthiness on a case-by-case basis. The amount of collateral obtained, if deemed necessary by the Company upon extension of credit, is based on management s credit evaluation of the party. Collateral held varies, but may include accounts receivable, inventory, property and equipment, residential real estate and income-producing commercial properties.

The Company guarantees certain customer credit card balances held by an unrelated third party. These unsecured guarantees act to streamline the credit underwriting process and are issued as a service to certain customers who wish to obtain a credit card from the third party vendor. The Company recognizes nominal fees from these arrangements and views them strictly as a means of maintaining good customer relationships. The guarantee is offered to those customers who, based solely upon management sevaluation, maintain a relationship with the Company that justifies the inherent risk. Essentially all such guarantees exist for the life of each respective credit card relationship. The Company would be required to perform under the guarantee upon a customer sedefault on the credit card relationship with the third party. Historical losses under the program have been nominal. Upon entering into a credit card guarantee, the Company records the related liability at fair value pursuant to FASB Interpretation No. 45 (FIN 45), Guarantor second and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others. Thereafter, the related liability is evaluated pursuant to FASB 5. The total of such credit card balances outstanding at September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005 (in thousands) are \$1,093 and \$1,566, respectively. During the second quarter of 2006, the Company began

Table of Contents

Western Alliance Bancorporation and Subsidiaries Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements Note 7. Commitments and Contingencies (continued)

Financial instruments with off-balance sheet risk (continued)

offering its own credit card product and will no longer guarantee new credit cards under the arrangement as described above.

Standby letters of credit are conditional commitments issued by the Company to guarantee the performance of a customer to a third party. Those guarantees are primarily issued to support public and private borrowing arrangements. The credit risk involved in issuing letters of credit is essentially the same as that involved in extending loan facilities to customers. Collateral held varies as specified above and is required as the Company deems necessary. Essentially all letters of credit issued have expiration dates within one year. Upon entering into a letter of credit, the Company records the related liability at fair value pursuant to FIN 45. Thereafter, the related liability is evaluated pursuant to FASB 5.

The total liability for financial instruments with off-balance sheet risk as of September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005 was (in thousands) \$414 and \$455, respectively.

Concentrations

The Company grants commercial, construction, real estate and consumer loans to customers through offices located in the Company s primary markets. The Company s business is concentrated in these areas and the loan portfolio includes significant credit exposure to the commercial real estate industry of these areas. At September 30, 2006, commercial real estate related loans accounted for approximately 66% of total loans, and approximately 8% of real estate loans are secured by undeveloped land. Substantially all of these loans are secured by first liens with an initial loan to value ratio of generally not more than 80%. Approximately one-half of real estate loans are owner occupied. In addition, approximately 5% of total loans are unsecured as of September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005. Approximately 30% of our residential real estate loan portfolio is comprised of five and ten year interest only loans. The loans have an average loan-to-value of less than 60% and convert to fully-amortizing adjustable rate mortgages at the end of the interest-only period.

The commercial and commercial real estate loans are expected to be repaid from business cash flows or proceeds from the sale of selected assets of the borrowers. The Company s policy for requiring collateral is to obtain collateral whenever it is available or desirable, depending upon the degree of risk the Company is willing to take.

At September 30, 2006, approximately \$273.7 million of the Company s non-interest bearing demand deposits consisted of demand accounts maintained by title insurance companies.

18

Table of Contents

Western Alliance Bancorporation and Subsidiaries Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements Note 7. Commitments and Contingencies (continued)

Lease Commitments

The Company leases certain premises and equipment under noncancelable operating leases. The following is schedule of future minimum rental payments under these leases at December 31, 2005, including the lease commitments of the two banks acquired in the nine months ending September 30, 2006:

		(in
Year ending December 31:	thou	ısands)
2006	\$	3,386
2007		3,240
2008		2,889
2009		2,741
2010		2,680
Thereafter		10,178
	\$	25,114

Note 8. Stock Options and Restricted Stock

During 2005, the stockholders approved the 2005 Stock Incentive Plan (the Plan). The Plan is an amendment and restatement of our prior stock compensation plans, and therefore supersedes the prior plans while preserving the material terms of the prior plan awards. The Plan gives the Board of Directors the authority to grant up to 3,253,844 stock awards consisting of unrestricted stock, stock units, dividend equivalent rights, stock options (incentive and non-qualified), stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, and performance and annual incentive awards. Stock awards available to grant at September 30, 2006 are 348,511.

The Plan contains certain individual limits on the maximum amount that can be paid in cash under the Plan and on the maximum number of shares of common stock that may be issued pursuant to the Plan in a calendar year. The maximum number of shares subject to options or stock appreciation rights that can be issued under the Plan to any person is 150,000 shares in any calendar year. The maximum number of shares that can be issued under the Plan to any person, other than pursuant to an option or stock appreciation right, is 150,000 in any calendar year. The maximum amount that may be earned as an annual incentive award or other cash award in any fiscal year by any one person is \$5.0 million and the maximum amount that may be earned as a performance award or other cash award in respect of a performance period by any one person is \$15.0 million.

The fair value of each option award is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option valuation model that uses the assumptions noted in the following table. The expected volatility is based on the historical volatility of the stock of similar companies that have traded at least as long as the expected life of the Company s options. The Company estimates the life of the options by calculating the average of the vesting period and the contractual life. The risk-free rate for periods within the contractual life of the option is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of the grant. The dividends rate assumption of zero is based on management s intention not to pay dividends for the foreseeable future. A summary of the assumptions used in calculating the fair value of option awards during the three months ended September 30, 2005 (no option awards were granted during the three months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 is as follows:

19

Western Alliance Bancorporation and Subsidiaries Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements Note 8. Stock Options and Restricted Stock (continued)

	Three months ended		Nine mo	onths ended
	September	September	September	
	30,	30,	30,	September 30, 2005
	2006	2005	2006	(post-IPO)
Expected life in years	N/A	7	5	7
Risk-free interest rate	N/A	4.0%	4.6%	4.1%
Dividends rate	N/A	None	None	None
Fair value per optional share	N/A	\$ 9.40	\$10.99	\$ 4.04
Volatility	N/A	29%	28%	N/A

For options granted during the nine months ended September 30, 2005 and prior to our initial public offering, the assumptions used in determining the fair value per optional share of \$4.04 were as follows: expected life of seven years and risk free interest rate of 4.1%.

Stock options granted in 2005 generally have a vesting period of 4 years and a life of 7 years. Restricted stock awards granted in 2005 generally have a vesting period of 3 years. The Company recognizes compensation cost for options with a graded vesting on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period for the entire award.

A summary of option activity under the Plan as of September 30, 2006 and 2005, and changes during the three and nine months then ended is presented below:

	Three months ended September 30,		,	
	200	06	20	05
		Weighted		Weighted
		Average		Average
	Shares (in	Exercise	Shares (in	Exercise
	thousands)	Price	thousands)	Price
Outstanding options, beginning of period	2,382	\$12.65	2,187	\$ 9.74
Granted			7	30.75
Exercised	(92)	6.18	(70)	8.14
Forfeited or expired	(14)	21.85		
Outstanding options, end of period	2,276	\$12.85	2,124	\$ 9.86
Options exercisable, end of period	894	\$ 8.42	572	\$ 7.02

Nine months ended September 30,				
	2006	20	05	
	Weighted		Weighted	
	Average		Average	
Shares	Exercise	Shares	Exercise	
(in		(in		
thousands)	Price	thousands)	Price	

Edgar Filing: WESTERN ALLIANCE BANCORPORATION - Form 10-Q

Outstanding options, beginning of period Granted Exercised Forfeited or expired	2,125 411 (223) (37)	\$10.10 24.27 7.03 16.89	1,986 384 (211) (35)	\$ 7.97 17.31 5.51 10.85
Outstanding options, end of period	2,276	\$12.85	2,124	\$ 9.86
Options exercisable, end of period	894	\$ 8.42	572	\$ 7.02
	20			

Table of Contents

Western Alliance Bancorporation and Subsidiaries Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements Note 8. Stock Options and Restricted Stock (continued)

At September 30, 2006 and 2005, the weighted average remaining contractual terms of outstanding stock options were 6.7 years and 7.8 years, respectively. The weighted average contractual terms of vested stock options for the same dates were 6.4 years and 6.9 years, respectively. At September 30, 2006 and 2005, the aggregate intrinsic values (in thousands) of outstanding stock options were \$45,634 and \$43,065, respectively. At the same dates, the aggregate intrinsic values (in thousands) of vested stock options were \$21,893 and \$12,144, respectively.

The total intrinsic values of options exercised during the three months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 were (in thousands) \$2,767 and \$1,477, respectively. The total intrinsic values of options exercised during the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 were (in thousands) \$6,275 and \$3,484, respectively.

A summary of restricted stock award (RSA) activity under the Plan as of September 30, 2006 and 2005, and changes during the three and nine months then ended is presented below:

	Three months ended September 30, 2006 2005						
	20	20	Weighted- Average				
	Shares (in	Grant-Date	Shares (in	Grant-Date			
	thousands)	Fair Value	thousands)	Fair Value			
Outstanding RSAs, beginning of period	238	\$27.66	27	\$16.50			
Granted Forfeited or expired	15 (6)	33.70 36.17					
Outstanding RSAs, end of period	247	\$27.82	27	\$16.50			
Vested RSAs, end of period	5	\$16.50		\$			

	Nine months ended September 30,						
	20	2	005				
			Weighted-				
			Average				
	Shares (in	Grant-date	Shares (in	Grant-Date			
	thousands)	Fair Value	thousands)	Fair Value			
Outstanding RSAs, beginning of period	27	\$16.50		\$			
Granted	238	29.68	27	16.50			
Forfeited or expired	(18)	35.43					
Outstanding RSAs, end of period	247	\$27.82	27	\$16.50			
Vested RSAs, end of period	5	\$16.50		\$			

At September 30, 2006 and 2005, the aggregate intrinsic values of restricted stock awards outstanding (in thousands) are \$7,830 and \$759, respectively.

Table of Contents

Western Alliance Bancorporation and Subsidiaries Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements Note 8. Stock Options and Restricted Stock (continued)

A summary of the status of the Company s nonvested shares (stock options and restricted stock) as of September 30, 2006 and changes during the three and nine months then ended is presented below:

	Three mo	nths ended	Nine months ended			
	_	iber 30,	September 30,			
	20	006	20	006		
		Weighted-		Weighted-		
		Average		Average		
	Shares	Grant-Date	Shares	Grant-Date		
	(in		(in			
Nonvested Stock Options	thousands)	Fair Value	thousands)	Fair Value		
Nonvested at beginning of period	1,421	\$ 4.47	1,341	\$ 2.95		
Granted			410	15.55		
Vested	(17)	2.71	(325)	12.11		
Forfeited	(14)	5.98	(36)	4.60		
Nonvested at end of period	1,390	4.48	1,390	4.48		
Nonvested Restricted Stock						
Nonvested at beginning of period	224	\$ 27.91	27	\$ 16.50		
Granted	15	33.70	229	29.68		
Vested			(5)	16.50		
Forfeited	(6)	36.41	(18)	34.50		
Nonvested at end of period	233	28.06	233	28.06		

As of September 30, 2006, there was (in thousands) \$8,382 of total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested share-based compensation arrangements granted under the Plan. That cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 3.1 years. The total fair value of shares and options vested during the three months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 was (in thousands) \$70 and \$70, respectively. The total fair value of shares and options vested during the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 was (in thousands) \$4,081 and \$319, respectively.

22

Table of Contents

Western Alliance Bancorporation and Subsidiaries Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements Note 9. Segment Information

The following is a summary of selected operating segment information as of and for the periods ended September 30, 2006 and 2005:

	Bank of Nevada*	Alliance Bank of Arizona	Torrey Pines Bank	Intersegmen Other Elimination		Consolidated Company
At September 30, 2006:						
Assets	\$2,847,422	\$646,211	\$598,920	\$464,763	\$(554,523)	\$4,002,793
Gross loans and deferred fees Less: Allowance for	2,002,718	535,440	401,485		(20,000)	2,919,643
loan losses	(22,652)	(6,039)	(4,419)			(33,110)
Net loans	1,980,066	529,401	397,066		(20,000)	2,886,533
Deposits Stockholders equity	2,303,021 333,673	472,136 49,802	497,001 38,103	400,690	(21,879) (429,198)	3,250,279 393,070
Number of branches Number of full-time	15	8	6			29
employees	470	130	105	58		763
Three Months Ended September 30, 2006: Net interest income	\$ 28,540	\$ 6,110	\$ 5,864	\$ (1,238)	\$	\$ 39,276
Provision for loan losses	680	(99)	372			953
Net interest income after provision for						
loan losses Noninterest income	27,860 2,129	6,209 608	5,492 422	(1,238) 15,344	(13,872)	38,323 4,631
Noninterest expense	(13,722)	(4,784)	(3,842)	(3,164)	455	(25,057)
Income before						
income taxes	16,267	2,033	2,072	10,942	(13,417)	17,897
Income tax expense	5,398	720	808	(596)		6,330
Net income	\$ 10,869	\$ 1,313	\$ 1,264	\$ 11,538	\$ (13,417)	\$ 11,567
Nine Months Ended Se 2006:	eptember 30,					
Net interest income	\$ 75,897 2,393	\$ 18,288 583	\$ 16,393 974	\$ (2,368)	\$ 3	\$ 108,213 3,950

Edgar Filing: WESTERN ALLIANCE BANCORPORATION - Form 10-Q

Provision for loan
losses

Net interest income after provision for loan losses Noninterest income Noninterest expense	73,504 5,618 (36,880)	(17,705 1,639 (14,019)		15,419 1,097 (10,627)	(2,368) 40,441 (8,737)	3 (36,186) 1,116	104,263 12,609 (69,147)
Income before income taxes Income tax expense	42,242 14,172		5,325 2,004		5,889 2,370	29,336 (1,702)	(35,067)	47,725 16,844
Net income	\$ 28,070	\$	3,321	\$	3,519	\$ 31,038	\$ (35,067)	\$ 30,881
				23				

Table of Contents

Western Alliance Bancorporation and Subsidiaries Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements Note 9. Segment Information (continued)

	Bank of Nevada*	Alliance Bank of Arizona	Torrey Pines Bank	Other	Intersegment Eliminations	Consolidated Company
At September 30, 2005:						
Assets Gross loans and	\$1,815,708	\$514,073	\$357,272	\$277,999	\$(220,038)	\$2,745,014
deferred fees Less: Allowance for	1,002,762	358,490	256,289			1,617,541
loan losses	(11,474)	(4,833)	(2,981)			(19,288)
Net loans	991,288	353,657	253,308			1,598,253
Deposits Stockholders equity	1,586,490 122,708	460,078 43,132	315,093 32,705	245,289	(14,163) (205,581)	2,347,498 238,253
Number of branches Number of full-time	5	15	3			23
employees	297	116	72	37		522
Three Months Ended September 30, 2005:						
Net interest income Provision for loan	\$ 18,414	\$ 5,128	\$ 3,929	\$ (122)	\$ (18)	\$ 27,331
losses	375	515	393			1,283
Net interest income after provision for						
loan losses	18,039	4,613	3,536	(122)	(18)	26,048
Noninterest income Noninterest expense	1,375 (9,345)	454 (3,707)	213 (2,465)	9,929 (2,035)	(8,738) 278	3,233 (17,274)
Income before income taxes	10,069	1,360	1,284	7,772	(8,478)	12,007
Income tax expense	3,227	483	517	31	(0,470)	4,258
Net income	\$ 6,842	\$ 877	\$ 767	\$ 7,741	\$ (8,478)	\$ 7,749
Nine Months Ended So 2005:	eptember 30,					
Net interest income Provision for loan	\$ 51,208	\$ 13,469	\$ 10,114	\$ (1,046)	\$ (18)	\$ 73,727
losses	1,817	1,417	983			4,217

Edgar Filing: WESTERN ALLIANCE BANCORPORATION - Form 10-Q

Net interest income						
after provision for						
loan losses	49,391	12,052	9,131	(1,046)	(18)	69,510
Noninterest income	3,830	983	488	25,826	(22,392)	8,735
Noninterest expense	(26,098)	(9,603)	(7,282)	(5,563)	732	(47,814)
Income before						
income taxes	27,123	3,432	2,337	19,217	(21,678)	30,431
Income tax expense	8,997	1,312	940	(441)		10,808
Net income	\$ 18,126	\$ 2,120	\$ 1,397	\$ 19,658	\$ (21,678)	\$ 19,623

^{* -} Known as BankWest of Nevada until April 29, 2006

24

Table of Contents

Western Alliance Bancorporation and Subsidiaries Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements Note 10. Employee Defalcation

On July 26, 2006, the Company identified evidence of an employee defalcation pertaining to certain accounts at a branch office of its Bank of Nevada (formerly BankWest of Nevada) subsidiary. The alleged defalcation primarily involved improper draws and payments on legitimate notes and the creation of fraudulent loans, resulting in fraudulent balances and the potential for legitimate loans with undetected credit problems. The Company understands the employee made payments on impaired credits to avoid scrutiny of other loans in the affected portfolio. The Company reflected an estimate of the loss resulting from this defalcation in its results of operations for the three months ended June 30, 2006. During the three months ended September 30, 2006, the Company identified an additional \$393,000 of other operating losses from fraudulent loans and improper use of customer deposits, and reclassified \$371,000 of amounts previously recognized as operating losses to charges to the allowance for loan losses.

For the nine months ended September 30, 2006, the total pretax impact of the defalcation was \$450,000, including our insurance deductible of \$350,000 and audit, legal and recovery costs incurred to date. These amounts are net of estimated insurance proceeds and cash restitution the Company has secured from the former employee.

Note 11. Private Placement Offering Memorandum

On September 1, 2006, the Company issued 263,389 shares of common stock at a purchase price of \$34.56 per share, and warrants to purchase 131,695 shares of common stock, resulting in gross proceeds of \$9,102,724. For every two full shares purchased by an investor in the offering, the investor received a warrant to purchase an additional share at the same purchase price. The foregoing were issued under circumstances that comply with the requirements of Section 4(2) under the Securities Act. The proceeds of the offering were used to partially capitalize Alta Alliance Bank (see Note 12).

Note 12. Subsequent Event

In October 2006, the Company opened Alta Alliance Bank, a de novo institution headquartered in Oakland, California. Alta Alliance Bank is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Western Alliance Bancorporation and was capitalized with \$25 million.

25

Table of Contents

ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005 and our unaudited consolidated financial statements and related footnotes in the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. *Unless the context requires otherwise, the terms Company*, *us*, *we*, *and our refer to Western Alliance Bancorporation on a consolidated basis*.

Forward-Looking Information

Certain statements contained in this document, including, without limitation, statements containing the words believes , anticipates , intends , expects , should and words of similar import, constitute forward-looking statement within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Act of 1934. Such forward looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual results, performance or achievements to be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Such factors include, among others, the following: general economic and business conditions in those areas in which we operate, demographic changes, competition, fluctuations in interest rates, changes in business strategy or development plans, changes in governmental regulation, credit quality, the availability of capital to fund the expansion of our business, and other factors referenced in this Quarterly Report. Except as required by law, we disclaim any obligation to update any such factors or to publicly announce the results of any revisions to any of the forward-looking statements contained herein to reflect future events or developments.

Overview

During the third quarter of 2006, we remained focused on increasing our earnings through growth of our interest earning assets funded with low-cost deposits. Loan growth for the quarter ended September 30, 2006 was \$147.0 million, or 5.3%, as compared to \$164.2 million, or 11.3% for the same period in 2005. Deposit growth was \$51.9 million, or 1.6%, for the three months ended September 30, 2006, compared to \$153.2 million, or 7.2% for the same period in 2005. We reported net income of \$11.6 million, or \$0.40 per diluted share, for the quarter ended September 30, 2006, as compared to \$7.7 million, or \$0.31 per diluted share, for the same period in 2005. The increase in earnings is primarily due to higher net interest income, due primarily to an increase in loans and the increase in interest rates. The provision for loan losses decreased \$330,000 from the three months ended September 30, 2005 to the same period in 2006, due to less robust loan growth coupled with continuing low levels of loan charge-offs. Non-interest income for the quarter ended September 30, 2006 increased 43.2% from the same period in the prior year, due to increases in trust and investment advisory fees, service charges and income from bank owned life insurance. Non-interest expense for the quarter ended September 30, 2006 increased 45.1% from the same period in 2005, due primarily to increases in salaries and benefits, occupancy and customer service costs caused by continued branch expansion and the acquisitions of Nevada First Bank and the former Bank of Nevada.

Selected financial highlights are presented in the table below.

26

Table of Contents

Western Alliance Bancorporation and Subsidiaries Summary Consolidated Financial Data Unaudited

	At or for the three months ended September 30,			For the nine months ended September 30,								
		2006		2005	Cl	nange %		2006	2	005	Change %	
Selected Balance Sheet Data:												
(\$ in millions)												
Total assets		4,002.8	\$	*		45.8%						
Gross loans, including net deferred fees		2,919.6		1,617.5		80.5						
Securities		554.1		713.1		(22.3)						
Federal funds sold		103.8		204.0		(49.1)						
Deposits		3,250.3		2,347.5		38.5						
Customer repurchase agreements		149.2		55.8		167.4						
Borrowings		110.0		63.7		72.7						
Junior subordinated and subordinated debt		81.9		30.9		164.8						
Stockholders equity		393.1		238.3		65.0						
Selected Income Statement Data: (\$ in thousands)												
Interest income	\$	64,344	\$	35,700		80.2%	\$	165,923	\$ 0	5,935	73.0%	7
Interest expense	Ψ	25,068	Ψ	8,369		199.5	Ψ	57,710		2,208	159.9	·
merest expense		25,000		0,507		177.5		37,710	_	2,200	137.7	
Net interest income		39,276		27,331		43.7		108,213	7	3,727	46.8	
Provision for loan losses		953		1,283		(25.7)		3,950		4,217	(6.3)	
Net interest income after provision for loan	l								_			
losses		38,323		26,048		47.1		104,263		9,510	50.0	
Non-interest income		4,631		3,233		43.2		12,609		8,735	44.4	
Non-interest expense		25,057		17,274		45.1		69,147	4	7,814	44.6	
Income before income taxes		17,897		12,007		49.1		47,725	3	0,431	56.8	
Income tax expense		6,330		4,258		48.7		16,844		0,431	55.8	
meome tax expense		0,550		7,230		40.7		10,044	1	0,000	33.0	
Net Income	\$	11,567	\$	7,749		49.3	\$	30,881	\$1	9,623	57.4	
Common Share Data:												
Net income per share:												
Basic	\$	0.44	\$	0.34		29.4%	\$	1.22	\$	0.99	23.79	%
Diluted		0.40		0.31		29.0		1.11		0.90	23.3	
Book value per share		14.57		10.45		39.4					-2.3	
Tangible book value per share		9.13		10.22		(10.6)						
Average shares outstanding (in thousands):						/						
Basic		26,471		22,733		16.4		25,216	1	9,842	27.1	
Diluted		29,161		25,082		16.3		27,833		1,857	27.3	
		*		,				,		•		

Edgar Filing: WESTERN ALLIANCE BANCORPORATION - Form 10-Q

Common shares outstanding	26,977	22,793	18.4			
Selected Performance Ratios:						
Return on average assets (1)	1.16%	1.17%	(0.9)%	1.17%	1.09%	7.3%
Return on average stockholders equity (1)	12.09	12.80	(5.5)	12.48	14.82	(15.8)
Return on average tangible stockholders						
equity (1)	19.79	13.08	51.3	17.45	15.27	14.3
Net interest margin (1)	4.42	4.44	(0.5)	4.56	4.40	3.5
Net interest spread	3.29	3.53	(6.8)	3.45	3.58	(3.6)
Efficiency ratio	57.07	56.52	1.0	57.23	57.98	(1.3)
Loan to deposit ratio	89.83	68.90	30.4			
Capital Ratios:						
Tangible Common Equity	6.4%	8.5%	(24.7)%			
Leverage ratio	8.4	10.3	(18.4)			
Tier 1 Risk Based Capital	9.5	13.6	(30.1)			
Total Risk Based Capital	11.0	14.6	(24.7)			
Total Risk Busea Capital	11.0	11.0	(21.7)			
Asset Quality Ratios:						
Net charge-offs to average loans						
outstanding (1)	0.05%	0.03%	66.7%	(0.01)%	0.01%	NA %
Non-accrual loans to gross loans	0.02	0.01	100.0			
Non-accrual loans to total assets	0.00	0.01	(100.0)			
Loans past due 90 days and still accruing						
to total loans	0.00	0.15	NA			
Allowance for loan losses to gross loans	1.13	1.18	(3.9)			
Allowance for loan losses to non-accrual						
loans	5481.79%	11021.71%				
(1) Annualized for						
the three and						
the time and						

(1) Annualized for the three and nine month periods ended September 30, 2006 and 2005.

27

Table of Contents

Primary Factors in Evaluating Financial Condition and Results of Operations

As a bank holding company, we focus on several factors in evaluating our financial condition and results of operations, including:

Return on Average Equity, or ROE;

Return on Average Tangible Equity, or ROTE;

Return on Average Assets, or ROA;

Asset Quality;

Asset and Deposit Growth; and

Operating Efficiency.

Return on Average Equity. Our net income for the three months ended September 30, 2006 increased 49.3% to \$11.6 million compared to \$7.7 million for the three months ended September 30, 2005. The increase in net income was due primarily to an increase in net interest income of \$11.9 million, an increase in non-interest income of \$1.4 million, offset by an increase of \$7.8 million in other expenses. Basic earnings per share increased to \$0.44 per share for the three months ended September 30, 2006 compared to \$0.34 per share for the same period in 2005. Diluted earnings per share was \$0.40 per share for the three month periods ended September 30, 2006, compared to \$0.31 per share for the same period in 2005. The increase in net income offset by the increase in equity resulted in an ROE and ROTE of 12.09% and 19.79%, respectively, for the three months ended September 30, 2006 compared to 12.80% and 13.08% respectively, for the three months ended September 30, 2005.

Our net income for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 increased 57.4% to \$30.9 million compared to \$19.6 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2005. The increase in net income was due primarily to an increase in net interest income of \$34.5 million and an increase in non-interest income of \$3.9 million, offset by an increase of \$21.3 million in other expenses. Basic earnings per share increased to \$1.22 per share for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 compared to \$0.99 per share for the same period in 2005. Diluted earnings per share was \$1.11 per share for the nine month periods ended September 30, 2006, compared to \$0.90 per share for the same period in 2005. The increase in net income offset by the increase in equity resulted in an ROE and ROTE of 12.48% and 17.45%, respectively, for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 compared to 14.82% and 15.27%, respectively, for the nine months ended September 30, 2005.

Return on Average Assets. The increase in net income offset by the increase in assets resulted in an ROA for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006 of 1.16% and 1.17%, respectively, compared to 1.17% and 1.09%, respectively, for the same periods in 2005.

Asset Quality. For all banks and bank holding companies, asset quality plays a significant role in the overall financial condition of the institution and results of operations. We measure asset quality in terms of non-accrual and restructured loans and assets as a percentage of gross loans and assets, and net charge-offs as a percentage of average loans. Net charge-offs are

28

Table of Contents

calculated as the difference between charged-off loans and recovery payments received on previously charged-off loans. As of September 30, 2006, non-accrual loans were \$604,000 compared with \$175,000 at September 30, 2005. Non-accrual loans as a percentage of gross loans were 0.02% as of September 30, 2006, compared to 0.01% as of September 30, 2005. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006, net charge-offs as a percentage of average loans were 0.05% and 0.04%, respectively. For the same periods in 2005, net charge-offs as a percentage of average loans were 0.03% and 0.02% for each period.

Asset Growth. The ability to produce loans and generate deposits is fundamental to our asset growth. Our assets and liabilities are comprised primarily of loans and deposits, respectively. Total assets increased 45.8% to \$4.0 billion as of September 30, 2006 from \$2.7 billion as of September 30, 2005. Gross loans grew 80.5% (40.8% organically) to \$2.9 billion as of September 30, 2006 from \$1.6 billion as of September 30, 2005. Total deposits increased 38.5% (12.7% organically) to \$3.3 billion as of September 30, 2006 from \$2.3 billion as of September 30, 2005.

Operating Efficiency. Operating efficiency is measured in terms of how efficiently income before income taxes is generated as a percentage of revenue. Our efficiency ratio (non-interest expenses divided by the sum of net interest income and non interest income) was 57.1% for the three months ended September 30, 2006, compared to 56.5% for the same period in 2005. Our efficiency ratios for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 were 57.2% and 58.0%, respectively.

Critical Accounting Policies

The Notes to Audited Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2005 contain a summary of our significant accounting policies, including discussions on recently issued accounting pronouncements, our adoption of them and the related impact of their adoption. We believe that certain of these policies, along with various estimates that we are required to make in recording our financial transactions, are important to have a complete picture of our financial position. In addition, these estimates require us to make complex and subjective judgments, many of which include matters with a high degree of uncertainty. The following is a discussion of these critical accounting policies and significant estimates. Additional information about these policies can be found in Note 1 of the Audited Consolidated Financial Statements filed with the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Allowance for Loan Losses. The allowance for loan losses is a valuation allowance for probable losses incurred in the loan portfolio. Our allowance for loan loss methodology incorporates a variety of risk considerations in establishing an allowance for loan loss that we believe is adequate to absorb losses in the existing portfolio. Such analysis addresses our historical loss experience, delinquency and charge-off trends, collateral values, changes in nonperforming loans, economic conditions, peer group experience and other considerations. This information is then analyzed to determine estimated loss factors which, in turn, are assigned to each loan category. These factors also incorporate known information about individual loans, including the borrowers sensitivity to interest rate movements. Changes in the factors themselves are driven by perceived risk in pools of homogenous loans classified by collateral type, purpose and term. Management monitors local trends to anticipate future delinquency potential on a quarterly basis. In addition to ongoing internal loan reviews and risk assessment, management utilizes an independent loan review firm to provide advice on the appropriateness of the allowance for loan losses.

29

Table of Contents

The allowance for loan losses is increased by the provision for loan losses charged to expense and reduced by loans charged off, net of recoveries. Provisions for loan losses are provided on both a specific and general basis. Specific allowances are provided for classified and impaired credits for which the expected/anticipated loss may be measurable. General valuation allowances are based on a portfolio segmentation based on collateral type, purpose and risk grading, with a further evaluation of various factors noted above.

We incorporate our internal loss history to establish potential risk based on collateral type securing each loan. As an additional comparison, we examine peer group banks to determine the nature and scope of their losses. Finally, we closely examine each credit graded Watch List/Special Mention and below to individually assess the appropriate specific loan loss reserve for such credit.

At least annually, we review the assumptions and formulae by which additions are made to the specific and general valuation allowances for loan losses in an effort to refine such allowance in light of the current status of the factors described above. The total loan portfolio is thoroughly reviewed at least quarterly for satisfactory levels of general and specific reserves together with impaired loans to determine if write downs are necessary.

Although we believe the level of the allowance as of September 30, 2006 was adequate to absorb probable losses in the loan portfolio, a decline in local economic or other factors could result in increasing losses that cannot be reasonably estimated at this time.

Available-for-Sale Securities. Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 115, Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities, requires that available-for-sale securities be carried at fair value. Management utilizes the services of a third party vendor to assist with the determination of estimated fair values. Adjustments to the available-for-sale securities fair value impact the consolidated financial statements by increasing or decreasing assets and stockholders equity.

Stock Based Compensation. Effective January 1, 2006 (the adoption date), the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised 2004), Share Based Payment (SFAS 123R). Prior to adoption of SFAS 123R, the Company accounted for stock option grants using the recognition and measurement principles of APB Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, and related interpretations. No stock-based compensation was reflected in net income, as all options are required by the Plan to be granted with an exercise price equal to the estimated fair value of the underlying common stock on the date of grant.

Prior to the adoption of SFAS 123R, the Company applied the disclosure provisions of SFAS 123, *Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation*. SFAS 123 required the disclosure of the pro forma impact on net income and earnings per share if the value of the options were calculated at fair value. SFAS 123 permitted private companies to calculate the fair value of stock options using the minimum value method while public companies were required to use a fair value model. Prior to the Company s initial public offering (IPO) the Company used the minimum value method to calculate the fair value of stock options. Subsequent to the Company s IPO, the Company utilizes the Black-Scholes model to calculate the fair value of stock options.

30

Table of Contents

The Company has adopted SFAS 123R using the prospective method for options granted prior to the IPO and the modified prospective method for options granted subsequent to the IPO. Under the Company s transition method, SFAS 123R applies to new awards and to awards that were outstanding on the adoption date that are subsequently modified, repurchased, or cancelled. In addition, the expense recognition provision of SFAS 123R applies to options granted prior to the adoption date but subsequent to the IPO that were unvested at the adoption date.

Beginning in 2006, the Company s stock-based compensation strategy involves granting restricted stock to key employees and stock options to senior executives. Prior to 2006, key employees were primarily granted stock options.

As of September 30, 2006, there was (in thousands) \$8,382 of total unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested share-based compensation arrangements granted under the Plan. That cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 3.1 years.

Intangible assets. We closed our acquisitions of Intermountain First Bancorp and Bank of Nevada on March 31 and April 29, 2006, respectively. A portion of the purchase prices of Intermountain First Bancorp and Bank of Nevada have been allocated to core deposit intangibles. These intangible assets are initially recorded at fair value as determined by a qualified independent valuation specialist engaged by management. We will amortize these intangible assets over their estimated useful lives. In addition, we will reassess the fair value of these assets each reporting period to determine whether any impairment losses should be recognized.

31

Table of Contents

Results of Operations

Our results of operations depend substantially on net interest income, which is the difference between interest income on interest-earning assets, consisting primarily of loans receivable, securities and other short-term investments, and interest expense on interest-bearing liabilities, consisting primarily of deposits and borrowings. Our results of operations are also dependent upon our generation of non-interest income, consisting of income from trust and investment advisory services and banking service fees. Other factors contributing to our results of operations include our provisions for loan losses, gains or losses on sales of securities and income taxes, as well as the level of our non-interest expenses, such as compensation and benefits, occupancy and equipment and other miscellaneous operating expenses.

The following table sets forth a summary financial overview for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005:

	Three Mo	nths Ended				
	Septen	September 30,		Septem	nber 30,	Increase
	2006	2005	(Decrease)	2006	2005	(Decrease)
		(in	thousands, excep	ot per share amo	unts)	
Consolidated Statement of Earnings Data:				-		
Interest income	\$64,344	\$35,700	\$28,644	\$165,923	\$95,935	\$69,988
Interest expense	25,068	8,369	16,699	57,710	22,208	35,502
Net interest income Provision for loan	39,276	27,331	11,945	108,213	73,727	34,486
losses	953	1,283	(330)	3,950	4,217	(267)
Net interest income after provision for loan losses	38,323	26,048	12,275	104,263	69,510	34,753
	•	•	·	•	•	·
Other income	4,631	3,233	1,398	12,609	8,735	3,874
Other expense	25,057	17,274	7,783	69,147	47,814	21,333
Net income before	4= 00=	42.00	7 000	4= ===	20.424	47.004
income taxes	17,897	12,007	5,890	47,725	30,431	17,294
Income tax expense	6,330	4,258	2,072	16,844	10,808	6,036
Net income	\$11,567	\$ 7,749	\$ 3,818	\$ 30,881	\$19,623	\$11,258
Earnings per share basic	\$ 0.44	\$ 0.34	\$ 0.10	\$ 1.22	\$ 0.99	\$ 0.23
Earnings per share diluted	\$ 0.40	\$ 0.31	\$ 0.09	\$ 1.11	\$ 0.90	\$ 0.21

The 49.3% increase in net income in the three months ended September 30, 2006 compared with the same period in 2005 was attributable primarily to an increase in net interest income of \$11.9 million and an increase in non-interest income of \$1.4 million, offset by an increase of \$7.8 million in other expenses. Net income for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 increased 57.4% over the same period in 2005, which is due to an increase in net interest income of \$34.5 million and an increase in non-interest income of \$3.9 million, offset by an increase in

non-interest expenses of \$21.3 million. The increases in net interest income for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006 over the same periods for 2005 were the result of an increase in the volume of and yield earned on interest-earning assets, primarily loans.

Net Interest Income and Net Interest Margin. The 43.7% increase in net interest income for the three months ended September 30, 2006 compared with the same period in 2005 was due to an increase in interest income of \$28.6 million, reflecting the effect of an increase of \$1.1

32

Table of Contents

billion in average interest-bearing assets which was primarily funded with an increase of \$900.1 million in average deposits, of which \$117.1 million were non-interest bearing.

Net interest income for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 increased 46.8% over the same period in 2005. This was due to an increase in interest income of \$70.0 million, reflecting the effect of an increase of \$939.4 million in average interest-bearing assets which was primarily funded with increase of \$799.1 million in average deposits, of which \$162.6 million were non-interest bearing.

The average yield on our interest-earning assets was 7.24% and 6.98% for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006, respectively, compared with 5.80% and 5.72% for the same periods in 2005. The increase in the yield on our interest-earning assets is a result of an increase in market rates, repricing on our adjustable rate loans, and new loans originated with higher interest rates due to the higher interest rate environment. Loans, which typically yield more than our other interest-bearing assets, increased as a percent of total interest-bearing assets from 64.9% for the three months ended September 30, 2005 to 82.6% for the same period in 2006.

The cost of our average interest-bearing liabilities increased to 3.95% and 3.53% in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006, respectively, from 2.27% and 2.14% in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2005, respectively, which is a result of higher rates paid on deposit accounts, borrowings and junior subordinated debt caused by the steady upward pressure on short-term interest rates driven by the Federal Open Market Committee s (FOMC) rate increases through the second quarter of 2006. Due in part to our acquisitions, we have also seen a shift in our deposit mix whereby non-interest bearing deposits comprise a smaller percentage of our entire deposit portfolio, thus increasing our funding costs. Average non-interest bearing deposits as a percent of deposits declined from 41.8% for the three months ended September 30, 2005 to 33.4% for the same period in 2006.

Despite the increase in our cost of funding, we had experienced steady margin expansion through the second quarter of 2006 since the FOMC began raising interest rates. However, the persistence of the inverted yield curve and reduced title deposits from the softening real estate market put considerable pressure on our margin in the third quarter of 2006, resulting in a decline in our net interest margin of 30 basis points. This is due to several factors, including the shift in our deposit mix discussed above. Additionally, competitive pressures drove an increase in the cost of our interest-bearing deposits from 3.21% in the second quarter of 2006 to 3.67% in the third quarter of 2006. We also funded the acquisition of Bank of Nevada on April 29, 2006, resulting in a cash outflow of \$74.0 million. These funds were essentially replaced with short-term borrowing from the Federal Home Loan Bank, trust preferred securities and subordinated debt. We anticipate that increases in deposit funding costs will stabilize in the fourth quarter of 2006 as the competitive upward pressure has abated.

Average Balances and Average Interest Rates. The tables below set forth balance sheet items on a daily average basis for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 and present the daily average interest rates earned on assets and the daily average interest rates paid on liabilities for such periods. Non-accrual loans have been included in the average loan balances. Securities include securities available for sale and securities held to maturity. Securities available for sale are carried at amortized cost for purposes of calculating the average rate received on taxable securities above. Yields on tax-exempt securities and loans are computed on a tax equivalent basis.

Table of Contents

		Three	Months Ende	ed September 3	30,	
(\$ in thousands)		2006			2005	
			Average			Average
	Average	T4004	Yield/Cost	Average	T4004	Yield/Cost
Earning Assets	Balance	Interest	(6)	Balance	Interest	(6)
Securities:						
Taxable	\$ 567,346	\$ 6,149	4.30%	\$ 736,610	\$ 7,269	3.92%
Tax-exempt (1)	10,386	131	5.69%	7,053	85	7.54%
1 ()	ŕ			ŕ		
Total securities	577,732	6,280	4.32%	743,663	7,354	3.95%
Federal funds sold and other	19,029	295	6.15%	100,587	868	3.42%
Loans (1) (2) (3)	2,914,740	57,508	7.83%	1,588,616	27,343	6.83%
Federal Home Loan Bank stock	17,201	261	6.02%	13,133	135	4.08%
Total earnings assets	3,528,702	64,344	7.24%	2,445,999	35,700	5.80%
Non-earning Assets	100 (01			70.012		
Cash and due from banks	109,681			78,012		
Allowance for loan losses	(32,585)			(18,602)		
Bank-owned life insurance	55,835			40,194		
Other assets	288,362			75,871		
Total assets	\$ 3,949,995			\$ 2,621,474		
Interest Bearing Liabilities						
Sources of Funds						
Interest-bearing deposits:						
Interest checking	255,141	1,747	2.72%	112,978	148	0.52%
Savings and money market	1,277,254	11,492		854,804	4,397	2.04%
Time deposits	518,283	5,748		299,920	2,222	2.94%
•						
Total interest-bearing deposits	2,050,678	18,987	3.67%	1,267,702	6,767	2.12%
Short-term borrowings	304,143	3,777	4.93%	63,530	357	2.23%
Long-term debt	78,438	710	3.59%	97,374	699	2.85%
Junior and subordinated debt	81,857	1,594	7.73%	30,928	546	7.00%
	0 71 7 11 6	2.50	2050	4 450 504	0.260	
Total interest-bearing liabilities	2,515,116	25,068	3.95%	1,459,534	8,369	2.27%
Non-interest Bearing Liabilities	1 007 007			010.220		
Noninterest-bearing demand deposits	1,027,387			910,239		
Other liabilities	28,036			11,486		
Stockholders equity	379,456			240,215		
Total liabilities and stockholders equity	\$ 3,949,995			\$ 2,621,474		
Net interest income and margin (4)		\$ 39,276	4.42%		\$ 27,331	4.44%
Net interest spread (5)			3.29%			3.53%

- (1) Yields on loans and securities have been adjusted to a tax equivalent basis.
- (2) Net loan fees of \$1,866,000 and \$1,416,000 are included in the yield computation for September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
- (3) Includes average non-accrual loans of \$439,000 in 2006 and \$369,000 in 2005.
- (4) Net interest margin is computed by dividing net interest income by total average earning assets.
- (5) Net interest spread represents average yield earned on interest-earning assets less the average rate paid on interest-bearing liabilities.
- (6) Annualized.

34

Table of Contents

			Ionths Ende	d September 30		
(\$ in thousands)		2006	Average		2005	Average
	Average		Yield/Cost	Average		Yield/Cost
	Balance	Interest	(6)	Balance	Interest	(6)
Earning Assets						
Securities:						
Taxable	\$ 594,432	\$ 19,106		\$ 739,072	\$ 22,053	3.99%
Tax-exempt (1)	24,881	708	5.24%	7,064	256	7.59%
Total securities	619,313	19,814	4.34%	746,136	22,309	4.02%
Federal funds sold and other	31,552	1,198	5.08%	82,124	1,919	3.12%
Loans (1) (2) (3)	2,516,427	144,266	7.66%	1,403,124	71,266	6.79%
Federal Home Loan Bank stock	16,692	645	5.17%	13,242	441	4.45%
Total earnings assets Non-earning Assets	3,183,984	165,923	6.98%	2,244,626	95,935	5.72%
Cash and due from banks	100,833			76,331		
Allowance for loan losses	(28,177)			(17,255)		
Bank-owned life insurance	54,101			31,064		
Other assets	214,378			66,436		
Total assets	\$ 3,525,119			\$ 2,401,202		
Interest Bearing Liabilities						
Sources of Funds						
Interest-bearing deposits:						
Interest checking	214,250	3,667	2.29%	107,359	407	0.51%
Savings and money market	1,144,587	26,822	3.13%	791,664	11,279	1.90%
Time deposits	453,026	13,840	4.08%	276,385	5,438	2.63%
Total interest-bearing deposits	1,811,863	44,329	3.27%	1,175,408	17,124	1.95%
Short-term borrowings	242,162	7,951	4.39%	72,219	1,305	2.42%
Long-term debt	73,709	2,131	3.87%	111,314	2,259	2.71%
Junior subordinated debt	56,721	3,299	7.78%	30,928	1,520	6.57%
Total interest-bearing liabilities Non-interest Bearing Liabilities	2,184,455	57,710	3.53%	1,389,869	22,208	2.14%
Noninterest-bearing demand deposits	986,499			823,867		
Other liabilities	23,254			10,482		
Stockholders equity	330,911			176,984		
Total liabilities and stockholders equity				\$ 2,401,202		
Net interest income and margin (4)		\$ 108,213	4.56%		\$73,727	4.40%
Net interest spread (5)			3.45%			3.58%

- (1) Yields on loans and securities have been adjusted to a tax equivalent basis.
- (2) Net loan fees of \$5,528,000 and \$3,910,000 are included in the yield computation for September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
- (3) Includes average non-accrual loans of \$171,000 in 2006 and \$605,000 in 2005.
- (4) Net interest margin is computed by dividing net interest income by total average earning assets.
- (5) Net interest spread represents average yield earned on interest-earning assets less the average rate paid on interest-bearing liabilities.

(6) Annualized.

Net Interest Income. The table below demonstrates the relative impact on net interest income of changes in the volume of earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities and changes in rates earned and paid by us on such assets and liabilities. For purposes of this table, non-accrual loans have been included in the average loan balances.

Table of Contents

	Three Months Ended September 30, 2006 v. 2005			Nine Months Ended September 30, 2006 v. 2005					
	In	crease (Decrea	se)	Increase (Decrease)					
	Due	e to Changes ir	n (1)	Du	e to Changes in	(1)			
	Volume	Rate	Total	Volume	Rate	Total			
			(in the	ousands)	sands)				
Interest on securities:									
Taxable	\$ (1,835)	\$ 715	\$ (1,120)	\$ (4,649)	\$ 1,702	\$ (2,947)			
Tax-exempt	42	4	46	507	(55)	452			
Federal funds sold	(1,264)	691	(573)	(1,920)	1,199	(721)			
Loans	26,165	4,000	30,165	63,825	9,175	73,000			
Other investment	62	64	126	133	71	204			
Total interest income	23,170	5,474	28,644	57,896	12,092	69,988			
Interest expense:									
Interest checking	973	626	1,599	1,829	1,431	3,260			
Savings and Money									
market	3,801	3,294	7,095	8,270	7,273	15,543			
Time deposits	2,422	1,104	3,526	5,396	3,006	8,402			
Short-term borrowings	2,988	432	3,420	5,580	1,066	6,646			
Long-term debt	(171)	182	11	(1,087)	959	(128)			
Junior subordinated									
debt	992	56	1,048	1,500	279	1,779			
Total interest expense	11,005	5,694	16,699	21,488	14,014	35,502			
Net increase (decrease)	\$12,165	\$ (220)	\$11,945	\$36,408	\$ (1,922)	\$34,486			

(1) Changes due to both volume and rate have been allocated to volume changes.

Provision for Loan Losses. The provision for loan losses in each period is reflected as a charge against earnings in that period. The provision is equal to the amount required to maintain the allowance for loan losses at a level that, in our judgment, is adequate to absorb probable loan losses inherent in the loan portfolio.

Our provision for loan losses was \$953,000 million and \$4.0 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006, respectively, compared to \$1.3 million and \$4.2 million the same periods in 2005. Factors that impact the provision for loan losses are net charge-offs or recoveries, changes in the size of the loan portfolio, and the recognition of changes in current risk factors.

Non-Interest Income. We earn non-interest income primarily through fees related to:

36

Table of Contents

Trust and investment advisory services,

Services provided to deposit customers, and

Services provided to current and potential loan customers.

The following tables present, for the periods indicated, the major categories of non-interest income:

	Three Mo	nths Ended		Nine Mon	ths Ended	
	Septen	nber 30,		September 30,		Increase
	2006	2005	Increase	2006	2005	(Decrease)
			(in the	ousands)		
Trust and investment advisory services	\$1,897	\$1,448	\$ 449	\$ 5,335	\$4,108	\$1,227
Service charges	918	662	256	2,453	1,858	595
Income from bank owned life insurance	641	463	178	1,863	1,045	818
Investment securities losses, net					69	(69)
Other	1,175	660	515	2,958	1,655	1,303
Total non-interest income	\$4,631	\$3,233	\$1,398	\$12,609	\$8,735	\$3,874

The \$1.4 million and \$3.9 million, or 43.2% and 44.4%, respectively, increases in non-interest income from the three and nine months ended September 30, 2005 to the same periods in 2006 were due primarily to increases in Miller/Russell investment advisory revenues and income from bank owned life insurance. Assets under management at Miller/Russell were up 22.7% from September 30, 2005 to September 30, 2006, causing the increase in revenues.

Non-Interest Expense. The following table presents, for the periods indicated, the major categories of non-interest expense:

37

Table of Contents

		nths Ended	T.,	Nine Months Ended			
	_	nber 30,	Increase	-	nber 30,	Increase	
	2006	2005	(Decrease)	2006	2005	(Decrease)	
			(in tho	usands)			
Salaries and employee							
benefits	\$14,243	\$ 9,541	\$4,702	\$39,353	\$27,049	\$12,304	
Occupancy	3,556	2,619	937	9,146	7,314	1,832	
Customer service	1,817	1,257	560	5,029	2,930	2,099	
Advertising and other							
business development	970	702	268	2,930	2,023	907	
Legal, professional and							
director fees	715	527	188	2,137	1,523	614	
Audits and exams	682	367	315	1,608	1,128	480	
Supplies	598	304	294	1,255	804	451	
Organizational costs	426		426	854		854	
Correspondent and wire							
transfer costs	416	417	(1)	1,254	1,220	34	
Data processing	353	350	3	1,220	715	505	
Telephone	297	195	102	754	558	196	
Insurance	265	223	42	769	540	229	
Travel and automobile	251	232	19	590	487	103	
Other	468	540	(72)	2,248	1,523	725	
	\$25,057	\$17,274	\$7,783	\$69,147	\$47,814	\$21,333	

Non-interest expense grew \$7.8 million and \$21.3 million, respectively, from the three and nine months ended September 30, 2005 to the same periods in 2006. These increases are attributable to our overall growth, and specifically to the acquisitions of Nevada First Bank and Bank of Nevada, opening of new branches and hiring of new relationship officers and other employees. At September 30, 2006, we had 763 full-time equivalent employees compared to 522 at September 30, 2005. The increase in salaries expenses related to the above totaled \$4.7 million and \$12.3 million, respectively, which is 60.4% and 57.7%, respectively, of the total increases in non-interest expenses.

Occupancy expense increased \$937,000 and \$1.8 million, respectively, from the three and nine months ended September 30, 2005 to the same periods in 2006 due to increased costs associated with new and acquired branches. At September 30, 2006 we operated 29 branch locations, compared with 13 at September 30, 2005.

Customer service expense increased \$560,000 and \$2.1 million from the three and nine month periods ended September 30, 2005 to the same periods in 2006 due to an increase in the analysis earnings credit rate used to calculate earnings credits accrued for the benefit of certain title company deposit accounts.

During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006, we incurred \$426,000 and \$854,000, respectively, of organizational costs associated with the formation of a de novo bank (Alta Alliance Bank) in Oakland, California.

38

Table of Contents

Other non-interest expense increased, in general, as a result of the growth in assets and operations for our three banking subsidiaries.

Provision for Income Taxes. Our effective federal income tax rate was 35.4% and 35.3% for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006, respectively compared with 35.5% and 35.5%, respectively, for the same periods in 2005.

Financial Condition

Total Assets

On a consolidated basis, our total assets as of September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005 were \$4.0 billion and \$2.9 billion, respectively. The overall increase from December 31, 2005 to September 30, 2006 of \$1.1 billion, or 40.1%, was due primarily to the acquisition of Intermountain First Bancorporation and Bank of Nevada on March 31, 2006 and April 29, 2006, respectively. At June 30, 2006, assets acquired through the Intermountain and Bank of Nevada mergers totaled \$845.4 million and gross loans acquired totaled \$642.5 million. Assets experienced organic growth during the same period of \$300.1 million, or 10.5%, including loan growth of \$483.8 million, or 27.0%. *Loans*

Our gross loans including deferred loan fees on a consolidated basis as of September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005 were \$2.9 billion and \$1.8 billion, respectively. Our overall growth in loans from December 31, 2005 to September 30, 2006 reflects our acquisitions of Intermountain First Bancorporation and Bank of Nevada and is consistent with our focus and strategy to grow our loan portfolio by focusing on markets which we believe have attractive growth prospects.

The following table shows the amounts of loans outstanding by type of loan at the end of each of the periods indicated.

39

Table of Contents

	September		
	30,	De	ecember 31,
	2006		2005
	(in tho	usanc	ds)
Construction and land development	\$ 768,684	\$	432,668
Commercial real estate	1,168,806		727,210
Residential real estate	385,501		272,861
Commercial and industrial	574,201		342,452
Consumer	26,100		20,434
Net deferred loan fees	(3,649)		(2,288)
Gross loans, net of deferred fees	2,919,643		1,793,337
Less: Allowance for loan losses	(33,110)		(21,192)
	\$ 2,886,533	\$	1,772,145

Non-Performing Assets. Non-performing assets include loans past due 90 days or more and still accruing interest, non-accrual loans, restructured loans, other impaired loans, and other real estate owned, or OREO. In general, loans are placed on non-accrual status when we determine timely recognition of interest to be in doubt due to the borrower's financial condition and collection efforts. Restructured loans have modified terms to reduce either principal or interest due to deterioration in the borrower's financial condition. OREO results from loans where we have received physical possession of the borrower's assets that collateralized the loan. The following table summarizes the loans for which the accrual of interest has been discontinued, loans past due 90 days or more and still accruing interest, restructured loans, and OREO.

	September	December
	30,	31,
	2006	2005
	(\$ in the	usands)
Total non-accrual loans	\$ 604	\$ 107
Loans past due 90 days or more and still accruing	18	34
Restructured loans		
Other impaired loans	1,351	
Other real estate owned (OREO)		
Non-accrual loans to gross loans	0.02%	0.00%
Loans past due 90 days or more and still accruing to total loans	0.00	0.00
Interest income received on nonaccrual loans	\$ 1	\$ 1
Interest income that would have been recorded under the original terms of the		
loans	22	10
	*	

As of September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005, non-accrual loans totaled \$604,000 and \$107,000, respectively.

Table of Contents

Allowance for Loan Losses

Like all financial institutions, we must maintain an adequate allowance for loan losses. The allowance for loan losses is established through a provision for loan losses charged to expense. Loans are charged against the allowance for loan losses when we believe that collectibility of the principal is unlikely. Subsequent recoveries, if any, are credited to the allowance. The allowance is an amount that we believe will be adequate to absorb probable losses on existing loans that may become uncollectible, based on evaluation of the collectibility of loans and prior credit loss experience, together with the other factors noted earlier.

Our allowance for loan loss methodology incorporates several quantitative and qualitative risk factors used to establish the appropriate allowance for loan loss at each reporting date. Quantitative factors include our historical loss experience, peer group experience, delinquency and charge-off trends, collateral values, changes in non-performing loans, other factors, and information about individual loans including the borrower s sensitivity to interest rate movements. Qualitative factors include the economic condition of our operating markets and the state of certain industries. Specific changes in the risk factors are based on perceived risk of similar groups of loans classified by collateral type, purpose and terms. Statistics on local trends, peers, and an internal five-year loss history are also incorporated into the allowance. Due to the credit concentration of our loan portfolio in real estate secured loans, the value of collateral is heavily dependent on real estate values in Nevada, Arizona and Southern California. While management uses the best information available to make its evaluation, future adjustments to the allowance may be necessary if there are significant changes in economic or other conditions. In addition, the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, or FDIC, and state banking regulatory agencies, as an integral part of their examination processes, periodically review the Banks allowance for loan losses, and may require us to make additions to the allowance based on their judgment about information available to them at the time of their examinations. Management periodically reviews the assumptions and formulae used in determining the allowance and makes adjustments if required to reflect the current risk profile of the portfolio.

The allowance consists of specific and general components. The specific allowance relates to watch credits, criticized loans, and impaired loans. For such loans that are also classified as impaired, an allowance is established when the discounted cash flows (or collateral value or observable market price) of the impaired loan are lower than the carrying value of that loan, pursuant to Financial Accounting Standards Board, or FASB, Statement No. 114, *Accounting by Creditors for Impairment of a Loan*. The general allowance covers non-classified loans and is based on historical loss experience adjusted for the various qualitative and quantitative factors listed above, pursuant to FASB Statement No. 5, or FASB 5, *Accounting for Contingencies*. Loans graded Watch List/Special Mention and below are individually examined closely to determine the appropriate loan loss reserve.

The following table summarizes the activity in our allowance for loan losses for the periods indicated:

41

Table of Contents

	Three months ended September 30,		Nine mon Septem	ths ended aber 30,
	2006	2005	2006	2005
		(\$ in the	ousands)	
Allowance for loan losses:				
Balance at beginning of period	\$32,158	\$18,118	\$21,192	\$15,271
Acquisitions	403		8,768	
Provisions charged to operating expenses	953	1,283	3,950	4,217
Recoveries of loans previously charged-off:				
Construction and land development				
Commercial real estate				
Residential real estate			5	3
Commercial and industrial	16	7	244	156
Consumer	5	6	56	12
Total recoveries	21	13	305	171
Loans charged-off:		10		1,1
Construction and land development				
Commercial real estate				
Residential real estate				
Commercial and industrial	398		1,075	125
Consumer	27	126	30	246
Total charged-off	425	126	1,105	371
Net charge-offs	404	113	800	200
Balance at end of period	\$33,110	\$19,288	\$33,110	\$19,288
Net charge-offs to average loans outstanding	0.05%	0.03%	0.04%	0.02%
Allowance for loan losses to gross loans	1.13	1.18		

Net charge-offs totaled \$404,000 and \$113,000 for the three months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively. For the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, net charge-offs totaled \$801,000 and \$200,000, respectively. The provision for loan losses totaled \$953,000 and \$4.0 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006, respectively, compared to \$1.3 million and \$4.2 million for the same periods in 2005. *Investments*

Securities are identified as either held-to-maturity or available-for-sale based upon various factors, including asset/liability management strategies, liquidity and profitability objectives, and regulatory requirements. Held-to-maturity securities are carried at cost, adjusted for amortization of premiums or accretion of discounts. Available-for-sale securities may be sold prior to maturity based upon asset/liability management decisions. Securities identified as available-for-sale are carried at fair value. Unrealized gains or losses on available-for-sale securities are recorded as accumulated other comprehensive income in stockholders equity. Amortization of premiums or accretion of discounts on mortgage-backed securities is periodically adjusted for estimated prepayments.

We use our investment securities portfolio to ensure liquidity for cash requirements, manage interest rate risk, provide a source of income and to manage asset quality. The carrying value of our investment securities as of September 30, 2006 totaled \$554.1 million, compared

42

Table of Contents

with \$748.5 million at December 31, 2005. The decrease experienced from December 31, 2005 to September 30, 2006 was a result of the maturity of our Auction Rate Securities portfolio and called U.S. Government-sponsored agency obligations.

The carrying value of our portfolio of investment securities at September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005 was as follows:

	Carrying Value		
	At		
	September	At December	
	30,	31,	
	2006	2005	
	(in t	housands)	
U.S. Treasury securities	\$ 3,448	\$ 3,498	
U.S. Government-sponsored agencies	77,984	137,578	
Mortgage-backed obligations	449,424	519,858	
SBA Loan Pools	399	426	
State and Municipal obligations	10,519	7,128	
Auction rate securities		67,999	
Other	12,359	12,046	
Total investment securities	\$554,133	\$ 748,533	

We had a concentration of U.S. Government sponsored agencies and mortgage-backed securities during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006 and the year ended December 31, 2005. The aggregate carrying value and aggregate fair value of these securities at September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005 was as follows:

	September	December		
	30,		31,	
	2006	2005		
	(in the	(in thousands)		
Aggregate carrying value	\$ 527,408	\$	657,436	
Aggregate fair value	\$ 524,476	\$	654,636	

Premises and equipment

Due to a combination of acquisitions and investment in new branch and operations locations, premises and equipment increased \$35.3 million from December 31, 2005 to September 30, 2006. Premises and equipment acquired through mergers totaled \$11.9 million with the remaining increase attributable to new branch locations and the new operations center in Las Vegas, Nevada.

Goodwill and other intangible assets

Primarily as a result of the acquisitions of Intermountain First Bancorporation and Bank of Nevada in the nine months ended September 30, 2006, we recorded goodwill of \$128.4 million and core deposit intangible assets of \$13.3 million. These amounts are subject to change when the

Table of Contents 59

43

Table of Contents

determination of the asset and liability values is finalized within one year from the respective merger dates. *Deposits*

Deposits have historically been the primary source for funding our asset growth. As of September 30, 2006, total deposits were \$3.3 billion, compared with \$2.4 billion as of December 31, 2005. Deposits acquired as a result of the acquisitions of Intermountain First Bancorporation and Bank of Nevada totaled \$605.6 million. The remaining organic increase in total deposits is attributable to our ability to attract a stable base of low-cost deposits. As of September 30, 2006, non-interest bearing deposits were \$1.1 billion, compared with \$980.0 million as of December 31, 2005. Approximately \$273.7 million of total deposits, or 8.4%, as of September 30, 2006 consisted of non-interest bearing demand accounts maintained by title insurance companies. Interest-bearing accounts have also experienced growth. As of September 30, 2006, interest-bearing deposits were \$2.2 billion, compared with \$1.4 billion as of December 31, 2005. Interest-bearing deposits are comprised of NOW accounts, savings and money market accounts, certificates of deposit under \$100,000, and certificates of deposit over \$100,000.

The average balances and weighted average rates paid on deposits for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 are presented below:

	Three month ended September 30, 2006 Average Balance/Rate		Nine month ended September 30, 2006 Average Balance/Rate		
	(\$ in thousands)				
Interest checking (NOW)	\$ 255,141	2.72%	\$ 214,250	2.29%	
Savings and money market	1,277,254	3.57	1,144,587	3.13	
Time	518,283	4.40	453,026	4.08	
Total interest-bearing deposits	2,050,678	3.67	1,811,863	3.27	
Non-interest bearing demand deposits	1,027,387	3.07	986,499	5.21	
	ф 2 0 7 0 065	2.45%	Φ 2 700 262	0.100	
Total deposits	\$ 3,078,065	2.45%	\$ 2,798,362	2.12%	

Contractual Obligations and Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We routinely enter into contracts for services in the conduct of ordinary business operations which may require payment for services to be provided in the future and may contain penalty clauses for early termination of the contracts. To meet the financing needs of our customers, we are also parties to financial instruments with off-balance sheet risk including commitments to extend credit and standby letters of credit. We have also committed to irrevocably and unconditionally guarantee the following payments or distributions with respect to the holders of preferred securities to the extent that BankWest Nevada Trust I, BankWest Nevada Trust II, WAL Trust No. 1 and Intermountain First Statutory Trust I have not made such payments or distributions: (i) accrued and unpaid distributions, (ii) the redemption price, and (iii) upon a dissolution or termination of the trust, the lesser of the liquidation amount and all accrued

44

Table of Contents

and unpaid distributions and the amount of assets of the trust remaining available for distribution. We do not believe that these off-balance sheet arrangements have or are reasonably likely to have a material effect on our financial condition, changes in financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures, or capital resources. However, there can be no assurance that such arrangements will not have a future effect.

Long-Term Borrowed Funds. We also have entered into long-term contractual obligations consisting of advances from Federal Home Loan Bank (FHLB). These advances are secured with collateral generally consisting of securities or loans. As of September 30, 2006, these long-term FHLB advances totaled \$58.0 million and will mature by December 31, 2012.

We have issued \$20.0 million in floating rate unsecured subordinated debt. The debt requires quarterly interest payments and matures in September 2016.

Our commitments associated with outstanding letters of credit, commitments to extend credit, and credit card guarantees as of September 30, 2006 are summarized below. Since commitments associated with letters of credit and commitments to extend credit may expire unused, the amounts shown do not necessarily reflect the actual future cash funding requirements.

	September		
	30,	December 31,	
	2006	2005	
	(in thousands)		
Commitments to extend credit, including unsecured loan commitments of			
\$192,658 in 2006 and \$111,522 in 2005	\$1,161,348	\$ 750,349	
Credit card guarantees	6,289	7,616	
Standby letters of credit, including unsecured letters of credit of \$15,775 in 2006			
and \$4,550 in 2005	46,117	28,720	
	\$1,213,754	\$ 786,685	

Short-Term Borrowed Funds. Short-term borrowed funds are used to support liquidity needs created by seasonal deposit flows, to temporarily satisfy funding needs from increased loan demand, and for other short-term purposes. Certain of these short-term borrowed funds consist of advances from FHLB. The borrowing capacity at FHLB is determined based on collateral pledged, generally consisting of securities, at the time of borrowing. We also have borrowings from other sources secured by pledged securities including securities sold under agreements to repurchase, which are reflected at the amount of cash received in connection with the transaction, and may require additional collateral based on the fair value of the underlying securities. As of September 30, 2006, total short-term borrowed funds were \$201.2 million compared with total short-term borrowed funds of \$85.2 million as of December 31, 2005.

Since growth in core deposits may be at intervals different from loan demand, we may follow a pattern of funding irregular growth in assets with short-term borrowings, which are then replaced with core deposits. This temporary funding source is likely to be utilized for generally short-term periods, although no assurance can be given that this will, in fact, occur.

Capital Resources

Current risk-based regulatory capital standards generally require banks and bank holding companies to maintain three minimum capital ratios. Tier 1 risk-based capital ratio compares

45

Table of Contents

Tier 1 or core capital, which consists principally of common equity, and risk-weighted assets for a minimum ratio of at least 4%. Leverage ratio compares Tier 1 capital to adjusted average assets for a minimum ratio of at least 4%. Total risk-based capital ratio compares total capital, which consists of Tier 1 capital, certain forms of subordinated debt, a portion of the allowance for loan losses, and preferred stock, to risk-weighted assets for a minimum ratio of at least 8%. Risk-weighted assets are calculated by multiplying the balance in each category of assets by a risk factor, which ranges from zero for cash assets and certain government obligations to 100% for some types of loans, and adding the products together.

The following table provides a comparison of our risk-based capital ratios and leverage ratios to the minimum regulatory requirements as of September 30, 2006.

			Adequately-		Minimum For	
	Actual		Capitalized Requirements		Well-Capitalized Requirements	
			(\$ in thousands)			
As of September 30, 2006	Amount	Ratio	Amount	Ratio	Amount	Ratio
Total Capital (to Risk Weighted Assets)						
Bank of Nevada	\$ 245,825	10.6%	\$ 185,648	8.0%	\$ 232,061	10.0%
Alliance Bank of Arizona	67,132	11.0	48,749	8.0	60,937	10.0
Torrey Pines Bank	53,211	11.5	37,162	8.0	46,452	10.0
Company	373,675	11.0	270,562	8.0	338,203	10.0
Tier I Capital (to Risk Weighted Assets)						
Bank of Nevada	202,876	8.7	92,824	4.0	139,236	6.0
Alliance Bank of Arizona	51,020	8.4	24,375	4.0	36,562	6.0
Torrey Pines Bank	38,792	8.4	18,581	4.0	27,871	6.0
Company	320,151	9.5	135,281	4.0	202,922	6.0
Leverage ratio (to Average Assets)						
Bank of Nevada	202,876	7.3	110,940	4.0	138,675	5.0
Alliance Bank of Arizona	51,020	8.0	25,451	4.0	31,813	5.0
Torrey Pines Bank	38,792	7.7	20,076	4.0	25,095	5.0
Company	320,151	8.4	152,437	4.0	190,546	5.0

The holding company and all of the banks were well capitalized as of September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005. **Liquidity**

The ability to have readily available funds sufficient to repay fully maturing liabilities is of primary importance to depositors, creditors and regulators. Our liquidity, represented by cash and due from banks, federal funds sold and available-for-sale securities, is a result of our operating, investing and financing activities and related cash flows. In order to ensure funds are available at all times, on at least a quarterly basis, we project the amount of funds that will be required and maintain relationships with a diversified customer base so funds are accessible. Liquidity requirements can also be met through short-term borrowings or the disposition of short-term assets. We have borrowing lines at correspondent banks totaling \$84.0 million. In addition,

46

Table of Contents

securities and loans are pledged to the FHLB totaling \$298.9 million on total borrowings from the FHLB of \$58.0 million as of September 30, 2006. As of September 30, 2006, we had \$16.7 million in securities available to be sold or pledged to the FHLB.

We have a formal liquidity policy, and in the opinion of management, our liquid assets are considered adequate to meet our cash flow needs for loan funding and deposit cash withdrawal for the next 60 to 90 days. At September 30, 2006, we had \$655.2 million in liquid assets comprised of \$207.1 million in cash and cash equivalents (including federal funds sold of \$103.8 million) and \$448.1 million in securities available-for-sale.

On a long-term basis, our liquidity will be met by changing the relative distribution of our asset portfolios, for example, reducing investment or loan volumes, or selling or encumbering assets. Further, we may increase liquidity by soliciting higher levels of deposit accounts through promotional activities and/or borrowing from our correspondent banks as well as the Federal Home Loan Bank of San Francisco. At the current time, our long-term liquidity needs primarily relate to funds required to support loan originations and commitments and deposit withdrawals. All of these needs can currently be met by cash flows from investment payments and maturities, and investment sales if the need arises.

Our liquidity is comprised of three primary classifications: (i) cash flows from operating activities; (ii) cash flows used in investing activities; and (iii) cash flows provided by financing activities. Net cash provided by operating activities consists primarily of net income adjusted for changes in certain other asset and liability accounts and certain non-cash income and expense items such as the loan loss provision, investment and other amortizations and depreciation. For the nine months ended September 30, 2006, net cash provided by operating activities was \$24.5 million, compared to \$21.3 million for the same period in 2005.

Our primary investing activities are the origination of real estate, commercial and consumer loans and purchase and sale of securities. Our net cash used in investing activities has been primarily influenced by our loan and securities activities. The increase in loans, net of loans acquired, for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 was \$518.3 million and \$429.2 million, respectively. Proceeds from maturities and sales of securities, net of purchases of securities available-for-sale and held-to-maturity for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 were \$227.5 million and \$71.0 million, respectively.

Net cash provided by financing activities has been affected significantly by increases in deposit levels. During the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 deposits increased, net of deposits acquired, by \$188.9 million and \$591.5 million, respectively. The net increase in our borrowings combined with proceeds from the issuance of junior subordinated and subordinated debt totaled \$121.5 million for the three months ended September 30, 2006, compared with a net decline in borrowings of \$129.7 million for the same period in 2005.

Our federal funds sold increased \$40.6 million from December 31, 2005 to September 30, 2006. This is due to the growth in our deposits and borrowings, including junior subordinated and subordinated debt, combined with the decrease of our investment portfolio exceeding our loan growth over the same period.

Federal and state banking regulations place certain restrictions on dividends paid by the Banks to Western Alliance. The total amount of dividends which may be paid at any date is generally limited to the retained earnings of each Bank. Dividends paid by the Banks to the Company would be prohibited if the effect thereof would cause the respective Bank s capital to be reduced below applicable minimum capital requirements.

47

Table of Contents

ITEM 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Market risk is the risk of loss in a financial instrument arising from adverse changes in market prices and rates, foreign currency exchange rates, commodity prices and equity prices. Our market risk arises primarily from interest rate risk inherent in our lending, investing and deposit taking activities. To that end, management actively monitors and manages our interest rate risk exposure.

There have not been any material changes in the market risk disclosure contained in the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005.

ITEM 4. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls

Based on their evaluation as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that the disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) were effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in reports that we file or submit under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is recorded, processed, summarized and reported in within the time periods specified in Securities and Exchange Commission rules and forms.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

On July 26, 2006, the Company identified evidence of an employee defalcation pertaining to certain accounts at a branch location of its Bank of Nevada subsidiary. The alleged defalcation involved improper draws and payments on legitimate notes and the creation of fraudulent loans, resulting in fraudulent balances and the potential for legitimate loans with undetected credit problems. This defalcation was facilitated by certain deficiencies in our internal control structure, primarily related to insufficient segregation of duties.

Subsequent to the discovery of the alleged defalcation, management has implemented staffing changes designed to improve the training of the individuals involved in the daily operations of the Banks. Procedural changes were also implemented to enhance the segregation of duties, which strengthen the review, authorization and reconciliation process so that the probability of employee defalcations occurring in the future is reduced.

Except as discussed above, there have not been any changes in the Company s internal control over financial reporting which have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company s internal control over financial reporting.

48

Table of Contents

Part II. Other Information

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

There are no material pending legal proceedings, other than ordinary routine litigation incidental to its business, to which Western Alliance or any of its subsidiaries is a party or of which any of their property is the subject.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

See the discussion of our risk factors in the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005, as filed with the SEC.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

(a) On September 1, 2006, pursuant to a private placement offering, we issued an aggregate of 263,389 shares of our common stock at a purchase price of \$34.56 per share, and warrants to purchase an aggregate of 131,695 shares of our common stock, resulting in gross proceeds of \$9,102,724. For every two full shares purchased by an investor in the offering, the Company issued a warrant to purchase an additional share at the same purchase price. The proceeds of the offering were used to partially capitalize Alta Alliance Bank. The foregoing were issued under circumstances that comply with the requirements of Section 4(2) under the Securities Act.

(b) None.

(c) None.

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities

Not applicable.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

None

Item 5. Other Information

Not applicable.

49

Table of Contents

Item 6. Exhibits

- 31.1 CEO Certification Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-a4(a).
- 31.2 CFO Certification Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a).
- 32 CEO and CFO Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002, as amended.

50

Table of Contents

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

WESTERN ALLIANCE BANCORPORATION

Date: November 14, 2006 By: /s/ Robert Sarver

Robert Sarver

President and Chief Executive Officer

Date: November 14, 2006 By: /s/ Dale Gibbons

Dale Gibbons

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Date: November 14, 2006 /s/ Terry A. Shirey

Terry A. Shirey Controller

Principal Accounting Officer

51

Table of Contents

EXHIBIT INDEX

- 31.1 CEO Certification Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a)
- 31.2 CFO Certification Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a)
- 32 CEO and CFO Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

52